Cabinet
10.00 am
on
Wednesday
10 October 2018
MEETING PAPERS ATTACHED

Cabinet

Wednesday 10 October 2018 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item
1

Discussion

Portfolio

Apologies

Leader of the
Council

To note any apologies for absence.
2

Minutes (Pages 1 - 26)
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 18 July 2018 (minutes
attached).

3

Declarations of Interest
To declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific
matters on the agenda.

Leader of the
Council

Leader of the
Council

Please see the information note at the end of the agenda
4

Questions at Cabinet Meetings
Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Leader of the
Council

Written questions
To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the
agenda for this meeting.
The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on
Thursday 4 October 2018
Urgent questions
An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the

10 October 2018

Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before
the meeting.
A written answer will be provided for each written question and
presented to the questioner and to Cabinet Members before the meeting.
The questions and answers will be taken as read at the meeting and
need not be read out. At the discretion of the Leader of Council, each
questioner in attendance at the meeting will be allowed to ask one
supplementary question in response to the answer to the original
question.
A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the
meeting.

Key Decisions
5

Financial Monitoring Report 2018/19 (Pages 27 - 42)

Finance and
Change

To provide an update on the financial forecast on the 2018/19 revenue
and capital budgets.

6

Cheltenham Cyber Business Park – Transport Mitigation and
M5 Junction 10 Business Case Development (Pages 43 - 58)

Economy, Skills
and Growth

To receive an update on transport improvements scheduled for West of
Cheltenham and at Junction 10 of the M5 Motorway.

7

A38 Cross Keys Roundabout Capacity Improvements
Contract (Pages 59 - 68)

Environment and
Planning

To seek approval to conduct a compliant competitive tender process and
to award a contract in respect of the A38 Cross Keys roundabout
capacity improvements and signalisation proposals.

8

Replacement and Refresh of Firefighting Personal Protective
Equipment (Pages 69 - 78)
To seek approval to award a framework agreement, (procured pursuant
to a competitive procurement process carried out by Kent Fire and
Rescue Service (FRS), to Bristol Uniform PLC for the supply of
firefighting Personal Protective Equipment (PPE).

Public Protection,
Parking and
Libraries

10 October 2018

9

Consultation on the development of a Waste Tipping Away
Policy (Pages 79 - 88)

Environment and
Planning

To seek authority to consult on the terms of the proposed payment
model to be used in the development of a Waste Tipping Away Policy by
the Council.
10

Proposed Parking Operational Services Contract (Pages 89 98)

Public Protection,
Parking and
Libraries

To seek approval to conduct a legally compliant competitive tender
process for the purpose of awarding a contract for the provision of
parking enforcement services across Gloucestershire.
11

Contract Award for the provision of actuarial services to the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund (Pages 99 - 104)

Finance and
Change

To seek authorisation to:
1. Enter into an Access Agreement with Norfolk County Council to
access the National Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
Framework and;
2. Conduct an EU compliant tender processing using the
Framework for the award of a seven year contract for the
provision of Actuarial Services to the Gloucestershire Pension
Fund.

Part Exempt Decisions
12

Schedule of Proposed Disposals (Pages 105 - 110)

Finance and
Change

To consider the disposal of properties and sites deemed surplus to
requirement in line with the Policy for the Disposal of Property.
Please note: this report contains both exempt and non-exempt
information.
To discuss the exempt information contained in the appendices to the
published report, consideration must first be given to whether the public
should be excluded from the meeting by passing the following resolution:
In accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012, the public to be excluded from the meeting for this
item of business because it is likely that, if members of the public were
present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act, and the
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest
in disclosing the information to the public.

10 October 2018

CABINET
Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Cllr Nigel Moor,
Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Ray Theodoulou,
Cllr Kathy Williams and Cllr Roger Wilson

NOTES
1.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk)
prior to the start of the meeting.

2.

INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes
or reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3.

DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is
likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or
more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral
divisions.

4.

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

5.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please
contact Democratic Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements
ahead of the meeting. If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street. Please remain there and await further
instructions.

10 October 2018

Agenda Item 2

MINUTES of meeting of the Cabinet

Held on WEDNESDAY 18 JULY 2018

PETER BUNGARD
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Page 1

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

CABINET MINUTES
Gloucestershire
County
Council
18 July 2018

Present:
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE
Cllr Richard Boyles
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Vernon Smith
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Roger Wilson
1.

Leader of the Council
Children and Young People
Public Health and Communities
Fire, Planning and Infrastructure
Highways and Flood
Finance and Change
Adult Social Care Commissioning

Apologies
Apologies were received from Cllrs Lynden Stowe and Kathy Williams.

2.

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2018 were confirmed and signed as a
correct record of that meeting.

3.

Declarations of Interest
No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4.

Questions at Cabinet Meetings
Public Questions
No public questions were considered at the meeting.
Member Questions
A total of 27 member questions had been submitted for consideration prior to the
meeting.
Please refer to the link below to view the responses to the questions: http://192.168.220.171:9071/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8900&Ver=4
-1-

Page 2

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

If unable to access the document at the link above, please go to the link below and
select the ‘Cabinet Questions and Answers’ PDF document at the top of the web
page: http://192.168.220.171:9071/documents/b14627/Member%20Questions%20and%20Answe
rs%20-%2018%20July%202018%20Wednesday%2018-Jul2018%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9

The following supplementary questions were asked at the meeting.
Question 2: Cllr Iain Dobie
Agenda item 11: To consider the future of selected care homes in
Gloucestershire and the relevant consultation
Cllr Dobie sought clarification on the statement given in the response to his
question, stating ‘all residents will be able to choose a new care home dependent
upon the availability of vacancies’. Cllr Dobie believed it was critical for residents to
live in the local vicinity when considering the closure of care homes and asked Cllr
Wilson to confirm if vacancies were available in nearby residential homes
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care:
Commissioning)
Cllr Wilson confirmed that vacancies were available in the local area and that the
aim was to relocate residents to care homes best suited to the needs of both the
individual and their families.
Question 3: Cllr Iain Dobie
Agenda item 11: To consider the future of selected care homes in
Gloucestershire and the relevant consultation
Cllr Dobie stated he had been interested to read Gloucestershire County Council
(GCC) was “embracing technological advancement in telecare and artificial
intelligence”.
With this in mind, Cllr Dobie asked the Cabinet Member to give examples of how
these advances might help in practice, in particular to loneliness, which, according
to, Age UK, was estimated to affect over 1 million older people and could be as
harmful to health as smoking 15 cigarettes a day.
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care:
Commissioning)
Cllr Wilson stated that the Health and Wellbeing Board was pursuing the issue of
loneliness and that he was optimistic the technological advances used to develop
the Council’s services would work. He referred to the Telecare system, which was
-2-

Page 3

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

already being used, as an example. Although technology did not replace human
contact, it was nevertheless important for technological advances to be made
Question 4: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Agenda item 10: Energy Procurement (GCC Estate and Schools)
Cllr Hodgkinson noted the valuable work Gloucestershire County Council had
undertaken to offer low carbon vehicles, encourage cycling and provide other green
incentives with the support of the opposition parties. Suggesting the council could
do more to promote this area of work by switching to a fully renewable energy
supplier, Cllr Hodgkinson asked the Cabinet Member to commit to the requirement
to purchase energy through a public buying organisation as a “key objective” and
not undermine the good work elsewhere?
Response by: Cllr Ray Theodoulou (Cabinet Member: Finance and Change)
Cllr Theodoulou informed Cllr Hodgkinson he would commit to investigating the
matter further. He stated that if the council was to make alternative procurement
arrangements, it would be necessary to consider at what cost this would be.
Question 5: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Agenda item 10: Energy Procurement (GCC Estate and Schools)
Cllr Hodgkinson asked if 70% of non Local Authority (LA) schools were taking up
the offer to use the council’s contract for energy supplies, why was the remaining
30% not taking up the offer.
Response by: Cllr Ray Theodoulou (Cabinet Member: Finance and Change)
Cllr Theodoulou believed the council’s scheme was a good scheme. He pointed out
that Academies could choose to do what they liked. Although Academies had been
invited to join the scheme, there were no guarantees they would take up the offer.
Question 6: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Agenda item 12: Tender and award a contract to deliver Gloucestershire
Welfare Support Scheme
Cllr Hodgkinson stated how surprising it had been to see that the number of
applications had dropped over recent years, while at the same time there had been
an exponential rise on the reliance on food banks, with 2018 seeing the highest
usage figures ever. Cllr Hodgkinson asked the Cabinet Member to explain this
discrepancy.
Cllr Hodgkinson also asked if the Cabinet Member agreed with him that, if food
banks did not exist, whether welfare applications would be dropping and suggested

-3-

Page 4

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

further cuts in welfare awards were pushing private donors to fill the void left by the
council.
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care:
Commissioning)
Cllr Wilson confirmed that the number of applications had dropped but that this was
probably due to the nature of the applications. Cash awards had increased but the
proportion of awards to applications had increased. Cllr Wilson stated that it was
not possible to compare the original Department of Works and Pensions Scheme to
the local scheme. He welcomed the existence of food banks, which he believed did
a marvellous job.
Question 7: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Agenda item 14: Highways Asset Management and Code of Practice
Cllr Hodgkinson noted the suggestion that the real impact of the introduction of the
new Highways Asset Management and Code of Practice would be a long term
reduction in potholes.
Cllr Hodgkinson referred to the ‘We Are Cycling UK - Fill that Hole’ website, and the
opportunity for members of the public to report potholes and other road hazards
before asking the Cabinet Member to explain why Gloucestershire was ranked 121
out of 214 Local Authorities with less than one in five reported potholes or road
hazards fixed?
Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith (Cabinet Member: Highways and Flood)
Cllr Smith clarified that the report Cllr Hodgkinson had made reference to was an
independent viewpoint on facts relating to cycling and that to give a realistic
overview it was necessary to consider other data, including figures relating to
improvements to the road network. He reported that statistics suggested
improvements had been made to the road network since 2005 and that the
£120million outstanding repairs inherited from previous administrations had
reduced to £80million.
Cllr Smith also stated how important it was to distinguish what constituted a pothole
when reporting road defects, which could be viewed differently by different groups
of road users. Cllr Smith offered to meet with Cllr Hodgkinson after the meeting to
consider the information in more depth.
Question 8: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Agenda item 15: School Standards and Performance
Cllr Hodgkinson stated that “the fact remained there was an inequality gap in
achievement for children living in Gloucestershire” and questioned why

-4-

Page 5

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Gloucestershire was so behind its statistical neighbours and the South West of
England.
Response by: Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet Member: Children and Young People)
Cllr Boyles confirmed that achievement in Early Years Education was slightly below
that found nationally, particularly for disadvantaged pupils. Nevertheless, there had
been a strong trend of improvement generally.
Elaborating on elements of the report due for consideration later in the meeting, Cllr
Boyles informed members that the outcomes for Key Stage 1 pupils had improved
in all subjects during 2017, as compared to the previous year. The attainment gap
between disadvantaged pupils in Gloucestershire and other pupils nationally had
decreased only slightly for all subjects in Key Stage 1 in 2017.
Key Stage 2 attainment and progress was higher in Gloucestershire than that
nationally, with the exception of writing. Amongst its statistical neighbours,
Gloucestershire had ranked highly for progress in reading and maths. Cllr Boyles
advised that a key priority for the Council would be to ensure teacher’s assessment
of writing was accurate and in line with assessment processes carried out in other
counties.
Attainment outcomes for Key Stage 4 were higher in Gloucestershire than those
found nationally, (with an average attainment 8 score of 48.4 compared with 44.6
nationally). However, the average progress 8 score was weaker.
Progress between Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 was -0.11 compared with -0.03
nationally. The Gloucestershire figure was slightly higher than the progress reported
in the South West.
The Council had identified key areas for improvement, which would be shared with
the relevant sectors and acted upon. It was hoped schools in Gloucestershire would
be aligned with the performance of all other authorities by 2019.
Question 9: Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Agenda item 10: Energy Procurement (GCC Estate and Schools)
Cllr Hilton said he was amazed, in business planning terms, that the Cabinet
Member wasn’t able to give a reasonable estimate on the income anticipated from
the generation of electricity from the Javelin Park incinerator and asked, once
again, what the estimate of the annual financial benefit would be from the
generation of electricity at Javelin Park?
Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member: Fire, Planning and Infrastructure)
Cllr Moor informed Cllr Hilton an estimate would be provided on completion of the
negotiations and when market conditions were known. He said he was confident

-5-

Page 6

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

there was a market out there but until the terms of the contract were finalised, there
was no further information.
Question 10: Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Agenda item 10: Energy Procurement (GCC Estate and Schools)
Welcoming the solar energy project at Shire Hall, Cllr Hilton asked how much
carbon would the council save per year from using renewable energy rather than
fossil fuel?
Response by: Cllr Ray Theodoulou (Cabinet Member: Finance and Change)
Cllr Theodoulou explained he was unable to answer Cllr Hilton’s question at this
time. When able to provide a response, he would circulate the answer to members.
Question 11: Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Agenda item 10: Energy Procurement (GCC Estate and Schools)
Cllr Hilton was surprised by the lack of ambition by the current administration to
invest in more solar panels on the council estate and asked the Cabinet Member if
he would consider redoubling efforts and setting clear targets for installing many
more solar panels than was currently planned?
Response by: Cllr Ray Theodoulou (Cabinet Member: Finance and Change)
Cllr Theodoulou referred to proposals set out in 2017 for the Council to invest
£12.5million in a solar panel scheme. Cllr Theodoulou recalled that the plans had
been quite advanced but had been halted due to their becoming uneconomically
viable following changes in tariff rates. He confirmed that the Council would
continue to look at this and other forms of energy, including wind turbines, in the
future.
Question 14: Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Agenda item 11: To consider the future of selected care homes in
Gloucestershire and the relevant consultation
Cllr Hilton asked what benefits could be anticipated in terms of elderly person care
from closing Trevone House?
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care:
Commissioning)
Outlining some of the key findings from the report, Cllr Wilson, confirmed that the
matter had been looked at in detail. He informed members that low occupancy
levels and financial losses during the past 2 years had revealed how financially
unviable it would be to continue to operate the two care homes in the future.
-6-

Page 7

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Evidence emerging from the strategy for Commissioning for Residential and
Nursing Care Home Provision in Gloucestershire illustrated the changing nature of
health and care for older people, including how older people preferred to remain in
their own homes for as long as possible. It was for these reasons, Cabinet was
required to consider closure of the two care homes.
Question 15: Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Agenda item 11: To consider the future of selected care homes in
Gloucestershire and the relevant consultation
Cllr Hilton asked what the initial feedback had been from the families of residents at
Trevone House and what concerns had been raised?
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care:
Commissioning)
Cllr Wilson stated that, from the initial feedback, there had been a level of
understanding on the need to close the two care homes. He referred to the
significant number of replacement care homes located in Gloucester and said that,
following the results of the full consultation, every effort would be made to ensure
the closures created as little impact as possible.
Question 16: Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Agenda item 11: To consider the future of selected care homes in
Gloucestershire and the relevant consultation
Cllr Hilton said he been assured there would be plenty of beds available at other
care homes in Gloucester. Cllr Hilton enquired if this was still the case and if the
new homes would meet modern standards.
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care:
Commissioning)
Cllr Wilson stated he was confident the replacement care homes would be as good,
if not better, than the original care homes.
Question 17: Cllr Kate Haigh
Agenda item 9: Tender and award of transport contracts under the Dynamic
Purchasing System
Cllr Haigh reiterated concerns about the impact of bus timetables on NHS shift
workers and asked if the Cabinet Member was aware of the difficulties early
morning shift workers were experiencing in arriving for work for shifts which began
at 7am when travelling on the route 99 bus service?
Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member: Fire, Planning and Infrastructure
-7-

Page 8

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Cllr Moor noted the concerns and said he would discuss the matter with officers,
including the possibility of tweaking the service timetable for this route.
Questions 20/21/22 Cllr Graham Morgan
Agenda item 11: To consider the future of selected care homes in
Gloucestershire and the relevant consultation
Cllr Morgan merged the supplementary questions for questions 20, 21 and 22 into a
single question. Expressing concerns about the future of adult social care in
Gloucestershire, Cllr Morgan reflected on his own experiences and the experiences
and concerns of some of his constituents. Reiterating the merits of providing ‘care
in the community’, Cllr Morgan asked if the Cabinet Member would consider
delaying the closure of the two care homes pending the outcomes of decisions on
the restructure of hospitals in the Forest of Dean.
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care:
Commissioning)
Cllr Wilson advised members that issues relating to the restructure of NHS
hospitals in the Forest of Dean would need to be considered separately. Explaining
the basis on which the decision to close the two care homes had been made, Cllr
Wilson expanded on some of the evidence provided to support the closures,
including low occupancy levels and financial pressures.
Question 26: Cllr Kate Haigh
Agenda item 15: School Standards and Performance
Expressing concern about the students within her division experiencing difficulties
getting into schools and schools in special measures, Cllr Haigh asked if a letter
could be sent to the Regional Schools Commissioner to raise these and other
issues, including ways of managing failing schools.
Response by: Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet Member: Children and Young People)
Cllr Boyles confirmed that a letter had already been written.
Question 27: Cllr Lesley Williams
Agenda item 15: School Standards and Performance
Cllr Williams expressed concern about the number of failing schools within
Gloucestershire and asked if the Council could lobby local MP’s to write to the
government seeking to reinstate failing schools under local authority control. Cllr
Williams aligned her request to the role of Corporate Parent.
Response by: Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet Member: Children and Young People)
-8-

Page 9

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Cllr Boyles confirmed that a letter had been written to reflect the Council’s
concerns. Although the Council supported the work of the County Council Network
(CCN) a suggestion had been made for a letter be sent to the Head of Education
seeking to ensure a pathway existed for failing schools to return to local authority
control.
5.

Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy (2019-20 to 2021-22)
Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, outlined the
financial context, process and timetable for the development of the Council’s
Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy for the period 2019/20 to 2021/22.
Cllr Theodoulou gave a detailed explanation on the funding resources available to
the Council to secure funding up to 2019/20. The figures assumed an increase in
council tax of 1.99% per annum for each of the 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22
financial years and a social care levy of 2% in 2019/20. It was noted that the ability
to increase council tax beyond 2019/20 was unlikely.
Members also noted that, despite some grant increases, it was anticipated that the
Council would be in a negative revenue support grant position for the final two
years of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).
Detailing the proposed timeline for developing the 2019/20 to 2020/21 budget,
members were informed that the final decision would be considered at the Full
Council meeting in February 2019.
Having considered the information, including known proposals, alternative options
and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,
RESOLVED to:
Agree the proposed process for reviewing and developing the Council Strategy and
the three-year Medium Term Financial Strategy covering the period 2019/20 to
2021/22

6.

Financial Monitoring Report: 2018-19
Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, gave an update on
the year-end forecast for the 2018/19 County Council’s Revenue and Capital
Budgets.
Cllr Theodoulou reported a forecast revenue year end position with a forecast £2.00
million overspend on a net budget of £418.081 million and confirmed that the
revenue budget had been increased by £4.6 million to reflect the additional revenue
forecast generated by the Business Rate Retention (BRR) pilot scheme approved
by the Council in February 2018.

-9-

Page 10

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Cllr Theodoulou proposed that £2.6 million of the additional £4.6 million BRR pilot
income be allocated to the Children and Families Budget and £0.530 million to
Highways Local budgets, (as outlined in the MTFS report approved by Council in
February 2018). He confirmed that £1.470 million of the income remained
unallocated, but that £1.0 million would be earmarked against the Adult Social Care
Budget and a further £0.47 million to be invested in the Electric Vehicle
Infrastructure.
Referring to the Adult Services Forecast, Cllr Theodoulou informed members that
the budget had been forecast to break-even, (with no formal requests to use adult
reserves).
Detailing the forecast for the Children’s and Families Budget, Cllr Theodoulou
reported a forecast overspend of £3.54 million, (taking into account the additional
£2.6 million of BRR pilot money). As with previous reports, Cllr Theodoulou
explained that the financial pressures on Children’s Services was largely a result of
the increased number of children coming into care and the subsequent pressure on
external agency and safeguarding budgets. He advised that the number of children
coming into care had increased from 549 at the end of March 2016 to 669 in May
2018.
Outlining some of the more specific proposals within the report, Cllr Theodoulou
proposed that £1.11 million be drawn down from the IRIS and Vulnerable Peoples
reserves to fund one off measures for the recruitment and retention of social
workers.
It was noted that the council’s demand-led budget areas continued to experience
volatility due to the changes in client numbers and care needs. Members were
advised it would be necessary to continue monitoring such budgets for the
remainder of the financial year.
In terms of capital, the forecast year end position was reported as £102.088 million,
in line with the approved budget. Actual spend at the end of May 2018 was reported
as £5.146 million, with a proposed overall increase to the capital programme of
£2.929 million.
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,
RESOLVED to:
1. Note the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of May 2018 for the
2018/19 financial year of a net £2.00 million overspend.
2. Note the increase to the revenue budget of £4.6 million to reflect the additional
revenue forecast to be generated as a result of being a Business Rate Retention
(BRR) Pilot and confirmed by the National Non Domestic Rates returns received
from the District Councils since the GCC budget was approved by Full Council
in February 2018.
- 10 -

Page 11

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

3. Approve the allocation of £2.6 million of the additional BBR pilot income to offset
demand pressures within Children and Families and a further allocation of
£0.530 million to Highways Local budgets as outlined in the MTFS approved by
council in February.
4. Approve £1.11 million to be drawn down in year from the reserve set aside for
the Intensive Recovery and Intervention Service or IRIS (£0.825 million) and
Vulnerable People’s reserve (£0.285 million) to fund one-off allowances and
temporary over recruitment of newly qualified social workers in Children and
Families.
5. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of May 2018 of
£102.088 million which is in line with the approved budget.
6. Approve the addition of £0.143 million developer section 106 contributions to the
Beaufort School scheme.
7. Approve the deletion of the £0.400 million Hunts Grove Primary School scheme
and the transfer of £0.290 million from the Capital Fund to the Children &
Families revenue budget to fund the rental costs of the temporary
accommodation.
8. Approve the addition of £0.183 million school contributions to the Suitability
Programme and notes the transfer of £0.011 million from the unallocated Basic
Need Grant.
9. Approve the addition of £0.073 million school contributions to the Capital
Maintenance Programme.
10. Approve a new scheme to remodel and provide additional toilets at Harewood
Junior School, funded by a £0.100 million transfer from the Basic Need
Provision.
11. Approve a new scheme to expand St. Mary’s C of E Infant School, Cheltenham,
funded by a £0.300 million transfer from the Basic Need Provision.
12. Approve a new scheme to refurbish the kitchen at Glenfall Primary School,
funded by the transfer of £0.032 million from the existing Health & Safety capital
budget and a new school contribution of £0.013 million.
13. Approve the addition of £0.356 million s106 developer contributions to the
Chipping Campden School scheme.
14. Approves the addition of £0.454 million Special Provision Fund Grant allocation.
15. Approve the addition of £1.852 million to the Highway Capital budget funded
from a variety of sources as outlined in the body of the report.

- 11 -

Page 12

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

16. Approve an increase of £0.145 million to the Libraries capital programme,
funded by developer section 106 contributions.
17. Notes the overall increase to the capital programme taking into account the
above changes of £2.929 million.
7.

The Procurement of Framework Agreements for the Provision of Management
and Property Related Services
Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, presented the
report, seeking agreement to conduct and award two four-year framework
agreements for the delivery of: a) Medium to large asset management and property related services and
projects with an estimated total framework value of £95million over the term
of the project; and
b) Minor maintenance and property related services and projects with an
estimated total value of £5million over the term of the project.
Cllr Theodoulou explained that, to extend the current contracts was not an option as
the agreements were due to end in 2019. Due to the success of the contracts, it
was proposed that they be replaced with similar agreements. Each contract to be
tendered as a 2 year contract, with the option to extend for a further 2 years.
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and
RESOLVED to
Authorise the Director of Finance, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for
Finance and Change, to:
1) Conduct an EU compliant competitive tender process for the award of a four
year Framework agreement for the delivery of medium and large asset
management and property related services/projects with an estimated total
framework value of £95m over its term. The Framework is likely to be divided
into two Lots. The Framework will be used to procure services and projects
valued at £150k and above.
2) Conduct an EU compliant competitive tender process to create a four year
Framework agreement for the delivery of minor maintenance and property
related services/projects with an estimated total value of £5m over its term.
The Framework will be used to procure services and projects valued up to
£15k.
3) Upon the conclusion of each competitive tender process, to appoint to each
respective Framework and/or Lot as appropriate the providers evaluated as
meeting the appropriate selection criteria in each case.
- 12 -

Page 13

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

8.

Capital Funding for Gloucester Canal Towpath
Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, sought approval for
the Council to act as the accountable body to funding streams for proposed works
on the Gloucester Canal Towpath.
Cllr Smith gave a detailed account of the key points relating to the decision to
undertake a major upgrade of the existing Gloucester Canal towpath between
Gloucester City Centre and the South of the City. Cllr Smith referred to the benefits
of the scheme, including the ambition to extend and promote the local economy.
Outlining the political and officer support for the scheme, Cllr Smith confirmed that
the proposed works were due to commence in August and September 2018, with
an anticipated completion date of early 2019. The initial phase of works was to
extend the Monks Meadow section of the towpath to Elmore Lane West.
Subsequent phases of work would be dependent upon securing European Regional
Directive Funding, for which an announcement was due in early 2019.
Works would be carried out by Kier, utilising the current term service contract with
the council’s project partners, The Canal and River Trust.
Continuing to lobby on the second phase of the scheme, Cllr Smith informed
members that officer advice was to proceed with the delivery of the first stage of the
scheme utilising Section 106 contributions and funding secured from the
Gloucestershire Environmental Trust.
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and
RESOLVED to: Authorise the Commissioning Director, Communities and Infrastructure to:
(1) Ensure Gloucestershire County Council Act as accountable body for the two
funding streams GET grant and Section 106 contributions;
(2) Allocate the £508k of S106 funds from the Kingsway Development to the
Capital programme inline with the specific Section 106 conditions which
includes encouraging and supporting sustainable modes of travel associated
with journeys to and from the Development along the southwest corridor to
Gloucester city centre;
(3) Provide necessary support to ensure the Canal and River Trust, as
landowner, deliver the works through their term contractor Kier from
August/September 2018 between Monk Meadow and Elmore Lane West.
(4) Cash flow the £200k GET grant for a period of up to 5 months as part of the
payment in arrears grant conditions which can be done from existing Section
106 balances inline with Finance approval.
- 13 -

Page 14

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

9.

Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the Dynamic Purchasing
System for Transport
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, sought
agreement for the procurement and award of passenger transport contracts for bus
and coach provision over the next 2 years. Cllr Moor also provided feedback on the
council’s progress in implementing transport contract related decisions, agreed by
Cabinet in September 2016.
Cllr Moor made particular reference to the award of the contract for bus route 511,
(awarded in September 2016), for which he was able to advise, had been awarded
at no cost to the council.
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and
RESOLVED to: Delegate authority to the Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure
to:
1) Use the Transport Dynamic Purchasing System (TDPS) in
accordance with its terms to undertake in each case a legally
compliant procurement processes to procure contracts for the
provision of each of the local bus services set out in Table 1 of the
decision report, and
2) Upon conclusion of each process, under recommendation 1
above, award a contract to the preferred provider, in each case
evaluated as offering the Council best value for money for delivery
of the services in accordance with the TDPS requirements.
In the event that a preferred provider for a contract is either unable
or unwilling to enter into a contract with the Council then the
Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure to be
authorised to enter into such contract with the next willing, highest
placed, suitably qualified provider.

10.

Energy Procurement (Gloucestershire County Council Estate and Schools)
Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, sought to conduct
EU compliant tender processes for the purchase and sale of energy.
Cllr Theodoulou informed members that, for some years, the Council had
participated in a programme operated by West Mercia Energy Electricity for the
purchase of gas and electricity, (purchased on behalf of the Council and on behalf
of local schools and academies). He confirmed that the programme had worked
well with good feedback from participants.
- 14 -

Page 15

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Cllr Theodoulou proposed that the Council enter into a new 2 year contract for the
supply of gas and electricity, (with the option of extending for a further 2 years),
through the West Mercia Energy Electricity Company.
Drawing attention to the progress of the construction of the Javelin Park Energy
from Waste Incinerator, (due for completion in 2019), Cllr Theodoulou informed
members that officers would continue to seek ways in which the need for electricity
could be efficiently matched with the production of energy.
Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, Cllr Nigel Moor, (cabinet
portfolio holder with responsibilities for the sale of energy), supported the proposal
and informed members that the decision would assist the council with the
negotiations for the sale of energy produced by the Energy from Waste Incinerator.
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and
RESOLVED to:
1) Authorise the Director, Strategic Finance to:
i. Use the services of third party public buying organisation (“PBO”) or third
party intermediaries to act on the council’s behalf in purchasing electricity
and gas for a commission.
ii. Award to a single supplier, a contract for the supply of electricity utilising the
services of a PBO (or equivalent) that has undertaken a legally compliant
competitive tender process for the purpose. The contract will be for a
maximum of 4 years (a 2 year initial term with an option to extend for up to
2 years) with an estimated full life value of £20.2m.
iii. Award to a single supplier, a contract for the supply of gas utilising the
services of a PBO (or equivalent) that has undertaken a legally compliant
competitive tender process for the purpose. The contract will be for a
maximum of 4 years (a 2 year initial term with an option to extend for up to
2 years) with an estimated full life value of £6.6m.
iv. Upon conclusion of each tender process, in consultation with the Cabinet
Member for Finance and Change, to enter into a contract with the preferred
supplier evaluated as offering the Council best value for money for the
supply of electricity and a separate contract with the preferred supplier
evaluated as offering the Council best value for money for the supply of
gas. In the event that the preferred supplier for the electricity contract or
the gas contract is either unable or unwilling to enter into that contract with
the Council then the officer is authorised to enter into such contract with the
next willing highest placed suitably qualified supplier.

- 15 -

Page 16

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

v.Regularly report to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change regarding
the progress of the procurements and keep him informed of any significant
new risks that emerge in the course of the procurement exercises.
2) Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure to:
i. Conduct a compliant competitive tender process for the award to a single
supplier of a contract for the sale of generated electricity. The contract will
be for a maximum of 4 years (a 2 year initial term with an option to extend
for up to 2 years).
ii. Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process in consultation with the
Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning & Infrastructure to enter into a contract
with the preferred provider evaluated as offering the Council best value for
money for the sale of generated electricity. In the event that the preferred
provider for the contract is either unable or unwilling to enter into that
contract with the Council then the officer is authorised to enter into such
contract with the next willing highest placed suitably qualified provider.
iii. Regularly report to the Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning & Infrastructure
regarding the progress of the procurement and keep him informed of any
significant new risks that emerge in the course of the procurement
exercise.
11.

To consider the future of selected care homes in Gloucestershire and the
relevant consultation
Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care (Commissioning), referred to
consideration of the council’s draft strategy for the commissioning of residential and
nursing care provision in Gloucestershire at the Cabinet meeting on 6 June 2018
before seeking approval for the closure of selected care homes in Gloucestershire
and agreement to consult with residents and their families on the impact of the
closures.
Cllr Wilson clarified that the purpose of the report was to seek approval to close
Townsend House Care Home, Mitcheldean and Trevone House, Gloucester, and to
consult with residents and their families on the impact of the closures.
He explained that, in April 2005, the Council had entered into a contract with the
Gloucestershire Care Partnership for the running of the Council’s former care
homes for older people. (The contract had a term of 35 years).
Within the terms of the contract, the Council had agreed to purchase a guaranteed
minimum number (60%) of registered care home beds across the contracted homes
in each district. In addition, the Council must pay for the minimum level of care
home beds, whether occupied by residents funded by the Council or not, unless the
Gloucestershire Care Partnership was able to sell the care home beds to people
who fund their own care.

- 16 -

Page 17

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

It was noted that that the contract included a break clause to allow either party, the
Council or the Gloucestershire Care Partnership, to take back or hand back any or
all of the older care homes. The break clause is due to become effective from 1
April 2020, (subject to notice by 1 April 2019). As part of the contract, an Estates
Committee was established to manage the development of an Estates Strategy for
older people in Gloucestershire.
Cllr Wilson stated that, at the outset of the contract, the Gloucestershire Care
Partnership provided care to 21 care homes within Gloucestershire, 8 of which had
since closed and 4 new homes built. A total of 17 care homes were included in the
current contract.
It was explained that, where the Council’s demand for care home beds fell below
the minimum level of beds and where the Gloucestershire Care Partnership, (in its
reasonable opinion), considered that the care home was becoming economically
unviable, then the care home would become a priority consideration by the Estates
Committee for closure, refurbishment or consideration as part of a future proposal
within the Estates Strategy.
Cllr Wilson confirmed that the projected costs to the Council of keeping the two care
homes under consideration open at current levels of occupancy was over £1million
until April 2020. He informed members that, on this basis, the Gloucestershire Care
Partnership had presented a report to the Estates Committee on 30 April 2018,
setting out the options available to Townsend House and Trevone House.
The report had concluded that the viability of Townsend House and Trevone House
was unsustainable, with a request that the Estates Committee recommend to the
Council the closure of the two care homes, including the day care service at
Townsend House.
Cllr Wilson confirmed that the Council and the Gloucestershire Care Partnership
had looked at various options to keep the care homes open.
These included: 

Providing revenue support for the care homes;



Taking back the care homes from the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (for
management by the Council);



Taking back the care homes to re-procure a new provider;



Partially close the care homes

All options had been declined due to them not being financially viable or
achievable. Another impact on the viability of the two care homes had been that
Gloucestershire was currently experiencing an over supply of care home beds. Cllr
Wilson explained that, in reaching a decision on the closure of the two homes, it

- 17 -

Page 18

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

had been necessary for the Council to balance its duty of care to the residents and
their families with the financial viability of continuing to operate the homes.
In view of the sensitive nature of the decision and the irreversible situation facing
the viability of the two homes, the Council had sought the advice of the
‘Consultation Institute’. Cllr Wilson confirmed that a full consultation on the impact
of the closures would commence on 25 July 2018 and continue until 25 October
2018. He assured members that the Council and the Orders of St John Care Trust
would ensure residents, families, and employees were fully supported throughout.
It was noted that the Orders of St John Care Trust had given assurances it was not
their intention to make any redundancies and that it would offer employees similar
roles at other homes. In addition, the Council would work closely with the
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group during the consultation process to
address any issues emerging from the decision to close.
Cllr Wilson explained that the consultation would follow the principles of the ‘Moving
Residents between Long Term Care Homes Policy (March 2014)’ involving:
a) Face to Face meetings on an individual basis or with a group of residents
and families for each care home. These will explain the reasons for the
closure of the care home, the options available for people to move to an
alternative care home, the likely timescales for the potential closures and to
understand the needs of individual residents.
b) Meetings with The Orders of St John Care Trust employees. These meetings
will explain the reasons for the closure of the care home and the likely
timescales for the closures. The relocation of employees and any other
employment matters will be a matter for The Orders of St John Care Trust
and their employees.
c) Briefings for local Councillors. These meetings will explain the reasons for
the closure of the care home, the options available for residents to move to
an alternative care home, the timescales and the wider care home issues for
their constituents.
d) Care Providers. These meetings will discuss the wider care home strategy
implications and opportunities for local care providers as a consequence of
the care home closures.
Contact had been made with the residents at the home. Although there was some
appreciation and understanding of the reasons for making the decision, there had
also been concerns from residents about moving to homes with shared facilities
and from employees about potential job losses. It was noted that assurances by the
Orders of St John Care Trust to safeguard jobs had been received.
Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, referred to the challenges created by
an ageing population and the changes during the past decade in how the Council’s
services are provided. The Leader also stressed the importance of people being
- 18 -

Page 19

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

able to remain in their own homes for as long as possible. He said that, although he
appreciated the difficult and emotive aspects of the decision, if the Council didn’t act
now, it would result in having to supplement multiple care homes with low
occupancy levels.
The Leader expressed the council’s commitment to seeking a speedy resolution.
He assured members every attempt would be made to ensure a smooth transition
whilst maintaining a positive outlook on relocating residents and employees to new
homes.
In summarising the reasons for the recommendations, Cllr Wilson confirmed that
dementia and respite care would be provided in the new homes. He concluded by
stating how difficult the decision had been but that he and officers would continue to
work closely during the next few months to ensure all employment aspects of the
decision were covered.
In an exception to normal practice, any capital receipts from the potential sale of the
two properties to be ring-fenced to finance Older People’s Services.
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and
RESOLVED to: 1) Approve the closure of Townsend House, (including day care service),
Mitcheldean and Trevone House, Gloucester;
2) Agree that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of the properties will
be ring fenced for future developments for older people in the County;
3) Delegate authority to the Director of Integration, in consultation with the
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:

12.

i.

Consult with residents and their families on the impact of and
arrangements for the closure of these two care homes and the day
care service at Townsend House;

ii.

Facilitate moving the residents to an alternative home that meets
their needs;

iii.

Facilitate moving people to an alternative day care service.

Tender and award a contract to deliver Gloucestershire Welfare Support
Scheme
Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care (Commissioning), sought
approval to conduct a tender process for the award of a contract for the provision of
the Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme.

- 19 -

Page 20

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Cllr Wilson explained that the Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme, (in
existence from 2013), had been introduced to support people experiencing an
immediate crisis in their lives, in addition to helping vulnerable people moving back
into the local community to resettle and live independently. The Welfare Support
Scheme provides practical support and assistance to vulnerable adults and families
in the form of one off non-cash awards.
Members were advised that the number of awards had reduced significantly since
2015, particularly in comparison to the number of awards administered by the
Department of Work and Pensions in schemes in previous years.
Cllr Wilson stated that, in contrast with the decline in the number of welfare support
applications, the Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme would be used to
process social care welfare requests, for which the number of requests for social
care had risen and was continuing to rise.
With the support of key stakeholders, including the Council’s social care and youth
support teams, Cllr Wilson proposed that Cabinet approve continued investment in
the scheme when the current contractual arrangements ended in March 2019.
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and
RESOLVED to: Authorise the Director of Public Health to:
(a) Conduct an EU compliant competitive tender process for the award of a 5 year
contract (for an initial term of 3 years with an option to extend for a further 2 years)
with an estimated total value of £2.6M for the management of the Gloucestershire
Welfare Support Scheme for eligible adults, families and young people;
(b) Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, to enter into a contract with
the preferred provider evaluated as offering the Council the best value for money
and quality for delivery of the services.
In the event that the preferred provider is either unable or unwilling to enter into that
contract with the Council, then the Director of Public Health to be authorised to
enter into such contract with the next willing highest placed suitably qualified
provider.
13.

Procurement of the new carers contracts
In the absence of the Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care (Delivery), Cllr Roger
Wilson, Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care (Commissioning), summarised the
background to the decision before seeking approval to undertake a procurement
process to locate a supplier for the provision and development of carers support
services, as required under the Care Act 2014 and the Children and Families Act

- 20 -

Page 21

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

2014. Current contracts providing support to carers are due to end on 31 March
2019.
Cllr Wilson emphasised the importance of carers providing support to the health
and social care system for Gloucestershire and the need to offer timely support to
the carers themselves to ensure the provision continued. He informed members
extensive engagement had been undertaken to produce service specifications that
would allow carers to fulfil their roles and help safeguard personal health and
wellbeing.
Outlining each of the proposals, Cllr Wilson proposed that the council undertake
competitive tender processes for two contracts; Adults Carers contact, (estimated at
£1.77million per annum), and Young Carers contract, (estimated at £390k per
annum, plus £30k per annum for the first 3 years towards Young Adults Carers
emotional support for those in education, apprenticeships or training).
It was proposed that the length of the contracts be 5 years, with the opportunity to
extend for a further 2 years. In doing so, it was hoped this would make the contracts
more attractive, more cost effective and provide better support to carers.
Outlining the service enhancements anticipated from the contracts, Cllr Wilson
emphasised the importance of the decision. Other Cabinet Members also offered
their support.
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and
RESOLVED to: Authorise the Commissioning Director, Adults (and DASS) to:
a) Conduct an EU compliant competitive tender process for the award of a 7
year contract (with an initial term of 5 years and an option to extend up to a
further 2 years) to one or more providers. This will have an estimated
maximum total value of up to £15.1m, over 7 years, for the delivery of
support to Carers,
and
b) Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, and in consultation with
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care (Delivery), to enter into a contract(s)
with one or more provider evaluated as achieving the highest score against
the evaluation criteria set by the Council.
In the event that the preferred bidder(s) for the contract(s) is either unable or
unwilling to enter into such contract(s) with the Council, officers are
authorised to enter into a contract with the next willing highest placed
suitably qualified provider(s)

- 21 -

Page 22

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

and
c) To take the Parent Carer Voice support back in house from 1st April 2019 to
enable the County Council and CCG to support the local offer across health,
education and social care.
14.

Highways Asset Management and Code of Practice
The Highways Act 1980 set outs the duties and responsibilities of the County
Council as the Highway Authority for Gloucestershire. Guidance on delivering local
authority highway services are notified by government in the form of codes of
practice.
Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, sought approval to
adopt the new Code of Practice for Well Managed Highway Infrastructure and to
bring the Highways Maintenance Policies and Processes in line with the new code.
Cllr Smith explained that the ‘Code of Practice for Well Managed Highway
Infrastructure’ introduced in October 2016 was due for adoption in October 2018.
Each highway authority would be required to determine codes of practice standards
based on experiences and historical data to reflect local needs, priorities and
affordability. The changes in policies to be aligned to the new Council strategy. It
was noted that, to not adopt the new code could leave the council open to
challenge and potential financial claims. It could also put the council at risk of loss
of capital grant funding for highways maintenance in the future.
Cllr Smith elaborated on the importance of distinguishing what constituted a pothole
when reporting road defects, which, as explained in his response to a member
question earlier in the meeting, could be viewed differently by different road users.
Cllr Smith agreed with Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and
Change, that the financial incentive from the government to adopt the new code
could be viewed as a ‘carrot and stick’ approach, but nevertheless, upheld the
position that the code would be beneficial to the council when dealing with highway
maintenance repairs in the future.
Cllr Smith referred to the backlog of highway repairs inherited from previous
administrations and suggested that the improvements made since 2005 could be
further improved following adoption of the code.
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, suggested
that the council adopt a systematic approach to aligning the new code to the new
Highways Contract and encouraged members to become familiar with the guidance
element of the document to aid their understanding of the decisions the council will
be required to make in the future.
Details of the new code to be published in the Members Matter publication.

- 22 -

Page 23

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and
RESOLVED to: 1) Approve that the new Code of Practice for Well Managed Highway
Infrastructure be adopted; and
2) Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure to
make minor changes to various highways maintenance policies and
processes to bring them in line with the new Code and with the Council’s
Corporate Strategy
15.

School Standards and Performance
Cllr Richard Boyles, Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, updated
Cabinet on the performance and standards of state-funded schools in
Gloucestershire and the impact of changes to the way in which the schools are
inspected. The report included information on the performance of local authority
maintained schools, academies and free schools.
Cllr Boyles reiterated comments made to Cllr Hodgkinson earlier in the meeting and
advised that the quality of educational provision in Gloucestershire was good and
that standards on the majority of measures were high and continuing to improve.
He confirmed that the children of Gloucestershire were performing in line with those
found nationally, with stronger outcomes at Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4.
Achievement in Early Years Education was slightly below that reported nationally,
particularly for disadvantaged pupils. Nevertheless, there was a strong trend of
improvement in Early Years.
Cllr Boyles informed members that the outcomes for Key Stage 1 pupils had
improved in all subjects during 2017, as compared to the previous year. The
attainment gap between disadvantaged pupils in Gloucestershire and other pupils
nationally had decreased only slightly for all subjects in Key Stage 1 in 2017.
Key Stage 2 attainment and progress was found to be higher in Gloucestershire
than that reported nationally, with the exception of writing. Amongst its statistical
neighbours, Gloucestershire ranked highly for progress in reading and maths. A key
priority for the local authority was to ensure teacher’s assessment of writing was
accurate and in line with the assessment process in other counties.
Attainment outcomes for Key Stage 4 were higher in Gloucestershire than those
nationally, (with an average attainment 8 score of 48.4 compared with 44.6
nationally). However, the average progress 8 score was weaker. Gloucestershire
performance was still higher than the progress for the South West

- 23 -

Page 24

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Members were informed that there had been a high number of inspections for the
current academic year, (2017/18), particularly since January 2018. The percentage
of schools judged to be good or better at the time of the report was 85%.
Cllr Boyles advised that action plans had been put in place and that the council
continued to work closely with schools to conduct a risk assessment which would
allow the local authority to intervene and bring about a rapid improvement in
schools if found to be declining. The work undertaken by the council to support and
challenge schools was considered effective and well regarded by Ofsted.
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative
options and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet
RESOLVED to
Note the information provided

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 11.45 am

- 24 -

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT: 2018/19
Cabinet Date

AGENDA NO: 5

10th October 2018

Lead Cabinet
Member

Raymond Theodoulou, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance
and Change

Key Decision

Yes

Other Documents

MTFS Report to 14th February 2018 County Council, and Financial
Monitoring Reports to Cabinet 18th July 2018

Main Consultees

Corporate Management Team, Senior Officers, Cabinet Members.

Planned Dates

Not applicable

Divisional
Councillor

County Wide

Officers

Jo Walker, Strategic Finance Director (01452) 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report

To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2018/19 County
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets
That the Cabinet:
1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of August
2018 for the 2018/19 financial year of a net £2.711 million overspend.
2. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of August 2018
of £0.248 million slippage against the current budget of £103.731 million.

Key
Recommendations

3. Notes the forecast overspend in the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) of
£3.24 million in 2018/19, which exceeds the £2.4 million of uncommitted
DSG balances brought forward, and endorses on going discussions with
the Schools Forum to agree actions to bring DSG back into balance in
future years.
4. Notes the recommendation to Council regarding the funding of the M5
Junction 10 works within the Cheltenham Cyber Business Park –
Transport Mitigation and M5 Junction 10 Business Case Development
report elsewhere on the agenda.
5. Approves a one off transfer of £0.5 million from the Insurance budget in
Technical and Corporate to Highways to support the costs associated with
the demobilisation of the Amey contract and the mobilisation of the new
highways contract.
1

Page 27

6. Approves the allocation of £1.470 million of the additional Business Rates
Retention (BRR) pilot income of which £1 million will be used to offset
demand pressures within Adult Social Care and £0.470 million will be
used to fund electric vehicle infrastructure. Both these allocations are in
line with those approved by Council in February 2018.
7. Approves the addition of £0.013 million to the Highway Capital budget
funded from a variety of sources as outlined in the body of the report.
8. Approves the transfer of £0.150 million from the Highways Capital
Programme to the Strategic Infrastructure Capital Programme to fund the
anticipated overspend on the Priory / Oakley flood alleviation scheme.
9. Notes the risks and opportunities associated with entering into a
Gloucestershire 75% Business Rates Retention Pilot in 2019/20 and:
 Support the application to the Government to become a pilot 75%
Business Rates Retention in 2019/2020 for Gloucestershire.
 Authorise the Director: Strategic Finance, in consultation with the
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, to
commit Gloucestershire County Council to entering into the pilot for
75% Business Rates Retention in 2019/2020 for Gloucestershire in the
event the bid to DHCLG is successful.
 Notes that in the event the pilot bid is unsuccessful then the Council
will remain in the Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool for 2019/2020.

Resource
Implications

These are detailed within the report

2

Page 28

Revenue Expenditure 2018/19
A. Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 2018/19
1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of
£418.081 million, based on actual expenditure at the end of August 2018 and
forecasts made in September 2018, is a £2.711 million overspend (0.66% of the
budget)
2. Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area is provided in the
table below and the narrative that follows.
Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of August 2018
Variance
Service Area

2018/19
Budget

£000
Adults

Prevention & Wellbeing

Children & Families

Additional
Budget from
BRR Pilot

Revised
2018/19
Budget

£000

£000

Forecast
Outturn
Position

Forecast
Outturn
Variance

%

£000

£000

%

Forecast
Variance Change in
Previously variance
reported
£000

£000

143,226

143,226

143,226

0

0.0%

0

0

33,953

33,953

33,913

-40

-0.1%

-40

0

103,268

2,600

105,868

112,189

6,321

6.0%

3,540

2,781

Communities &
Infrastructure

86,952

530

87,482

88,183

701

0.8%

0

701

Business Support Services

28,639

28,639

28,639

0

0.0%

0

0

Support Services
Recharges

-28,639

-28,639

-28,639

0

0.0%

0

0

Total for Services

367,399

3,130

370,529

377,511

6,982

1.9%

3,500

3,482

Unallocated BRR Pilot
Money

0

1,470

1,470

1,470

0

0.0%

0

0

Technical & Corporate

46,082

46,082

41,811

-4,271

-9.3%

-1,500

-2,771

418,081

420,792

2,711

0.65%

2,000

711

Total

413,481

4,600

3

Page 29

Adult Social Care
3. Adult Social Care is reporting a balanced position. While there is an underlying in
year overspend forecast of £0.4 million this will be managed down to a balanced
position by drawing down on Adult Care reserves – which currently stand at £4.6
million.
4. A request is being made to Cabinet to release the £1m ear marked for Adults by
Council within the Business Rate Retention (BRR) pilot to support demand
pressures including workforce resilience and preparation with winter planning and
associated winter pressures.

5. The Adult Social Care Support Grant is temporary funding available to Adult
Services in 2018/19. All of the £1.581 million available has been allocated in year
to offset the underlying overspend.
6. The MTFS savings targets for all client groups are integrated under the Adult Single
Programme (ASP) and monitored through Weekly Governance meetings and the
ASP Board. Savings targets are grouped into seven clusters.
7. LD External Care is projecting a £2.300 million overspend. The overspend assumes
the majority of 2018/19 savings targets will be found, although there are risks
around a number of these. Banked savings to date total £1.513 million. The
overspend relates to increased caseload and increased complexity of some cases.
8. OP and PD External Care is projecting a £1.261 million overspend. The overspend
assumes full delivery of 2018/19 savings targets. £5.750 million of savings are
included within the forecast (in line with targets), though there is risk of not achieving
these savings in full - £0.477 million has been banked to date. The overspend
mainly relates to increased care needs and therefore costs for existing cases, and
also voids within homes run by a major provider.
9. Mental Health is forecasting an overspend of £0.822 million, net of unallocated
MTFS funding held by the Lead Commissioner. The overspend relates to increasing
complexity and hence higher unit costs.
10. The Community Equipment Service (CES) / Telecare budget is forecasting a minor
underspend of £0.005 million. As in last financial year the CES position is being
supported by the Disabled Facilities Grant.
11. Other Services comprise all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as a
number of specific commissioned contracts. The forecast position for these services
nets to a £0.235 million overspend including;

4

Page 30

a. £1.831 million significant overspends; LD in-house services (£0.849 million),
due to MtC2 Service Reshaping savings not yet found (now fully incorporated
within the ASP) and LD Assessment and Care Management teams (£0.646
million), due to permanent funding not secured previously for pay costs. In
addition, a £0.228 million overspend is reported for the Occupational Therapy
Service, and £0.108 million for Community Meals, reflecting proposed
savings not now achievable in the current year.
b. A detailed exercise is being completed to review all LD budgets, after which
the £0.500 million Adult Care Levy will be permanently allocated to address
underlying budget pressures.
c. £1.320 million significant service underspends; OP/PD Integrated Social
Care Management (ISCM) and Brokerage/ Direct Payment teams, due
largely to vacancies (£0.342 million), £0.240 million unallocated government
grant, £0.327 million LD Enablement pay budget, due to unfilled vacancies,
and an underspend in the OP/PD Reablement Service (£0.411 million), also
due to vacancies.
d. A number of smaller service variances (under £0.100 million) netting to a
£0.276 million underspend.
12. Unallocated budgets are reporting as underspent by £3.450 million. This is
mainly because the ASP has been set £2.104 million higher than the 2018/19
MTFS savings total, to offset brought forward overspends in external care
budgets. This position is being closely monitored within the ASP governance
process. In addition there is £0.866 million of ASC Levy not yet allocated, £0.500
million as noted in para 12b above, and £0.366 million held to support any
pressures that are emerging from the use of temporary funding, particularly from
the first year of the Additional Improved Better Care Fund (£10.598 million) .

Prevention and Wellbeing
13. Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number
of smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants.
14. The current forecast of the year end revenue position is an under-spend of £0.04
million and is due to staff vacancies within the prevention hub team.
15. Public Health is reporting a balanced position. Services are funded by a ringfenced grant, which if unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific
reserve. The in-year forecast for Public Health is an under-spend of £0.17 million
due to the delay in the development of a new service within healthy lifestyles and
staff vacancies. The under-spend will be transferred to the Public Health reserve
at year end.

5

Page 31

16. Supporting People is reporting a breakeven position but this is based on the
assumption that £0.16m of previous year MTC2 savings linked to Mental Health
services will be covered by in-year savings.

Children & Families
17. The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at August 2018 for nonDSG funded services is an over-spend of £6.32 million (5.95% of budget). The
gross over-spend is £8.92 million, which is reduced to £6.32 million by using the
£2.6 million one-off income from the business rates retention pilot. The increase
in the over-spend of £2.78 million is due to pressures on the external placement
budget and the cost of agency safeguarding staff covering vacancies.
18. At the end of August 2018 children in care numbers had risen to 700 from 549 at
the end of March 2016 and although nationally the trend is increasing (circa 3%
p.a.) other factors will include the improvement in social work practice through
catching up on drift and delay in casework. The ongoing rise in children coming
into care continues to cause significant pressures on children’s services and in
particular against the external placement budget resulting in the over-spend.
19. As part of the 2018/19 budget, additional investment of £7.6 million was
approved for external placements. This investment was based on a maximum
number of 280 external placements with a unit cost of £61,600 per annum using
an 80:20 fostering to residential weighting. The current forecast over-spend
against the external placement budget of £6.23 million (36.1% above budget) is
due to a higher number of external placements than anticipated, within which the
number of residential placements has increased in both absolute and
proportionate terms. Many of the residential placements are required to meet the
needs of highly complex children resulting in a current average unit cost of
£84,600 per annum. There are currently 299 external placements, of which 68
are residential. The forecast includes contingencies of £3.5 million for new cases
in-year to allow for additional placements to replace existing care commitments
or allow for high number of placements.
20. In addition to this young peoples support are forecasting a £0.67 million overspend due to a number of complex cases and the additional cost of agency staff
covering vacancies. The in-house fostering service is also forecasting to overspend by £0.27 million due to staffing costs.
21. The Director of Children’s Service’s is leading a review of all high cost
placements on a regular basis as part of the wider improvement work on
permanence planning. The aim is to reduce the cost of external placements
where appropriate, given the higher unit costs outlined above, ensure decisions
around placement change and permanence are executed in timely child centred
manner, and ultimately bring down the forecast over-spend. It is estimated that
6

Page 32

these reviews will result in approximately £1 million of cost avoidance in 2018/19,
which has been built into the forecast. Improving social care practice to divert
children from care at an earlier point and achieve permanence at the earliest
opportunity should reduce costs further in the longer term.
22. Safeguarding staffing budgets have received £4.01 million of investment in
2018/19 to reduce caseloads and improve practice within teams. Recruitment of
social workers especially experienced staff continues to be a challenge. Agency
staff have continued to cover staff vacancies or where caseloads remain high,
resulting in a forecast overspend of £1.78 million. A higher level of activity is also
causing an over-spend of £0.25 million in section 17 and discretionary payments
for foster carers. New procedures have been put in place to review all significant
payments and ensure consistency across teams. Additionally, a resource panel
will be put in place to gate-keep significant section 17 expenditure.
23. Despite the investment made by the council, the issue of recruitment and
retention of social workers has continued to be a challenge. To address this the
Chief Executive, supported by the Director of Children’s Services and Support
Services has made a delegated decision to make a number of changes to social
work pay scales and allowances in year, making Gloucestershire more
competitive with neighbouring authorities. One-off proposals for allowances and
over recruitment of newly qualified social workers, estimated at £1.11 million for
2018/19 will be funded from IRIS and Vulnerable People’s reserves. The
continuation of these proposals beyond March 2019 will be picked up as part of
the 2019/20 MTFS discussions. The release of the IRIS reserve is following the
decision to review the project in light of the market sufficiency statement that is
currently being developed. Some additional permanent changes to pay scales
and additional posts have been subject to a decision by the Director of Children’s
Services and are being funded through the budget held for agency staff on the
basis that this budget should see savings as permanent staff are recruited and
retained; estimated cost of £0.38 million in year.
24. There are a couple of offsetting variances which include adoption, child
arrangement and special guardianship orders which are forecast to under-spend
by £0.30 million due to lower than expected number of allowances and orders
being made. Also, services for children with disabilities are forecast to underspend by £0.20 million due to lower costs in the residential unit and staff
vacancies in the field work teams.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position
25. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent
by £3.24 million in 2018/19. At the start of the year it was anticipated that
balances carried forward from 2017/18 would be able to cover in-year demand
pressures but the reported over-spend of £3.24 million exceeds the £2.4 million
7

Page 33

of uncommitted DSG balances brought forward resulting in a net over-spend of
£0.84 million against the ring-fenced grant. As reported last year the cost
pressures are in the High Needs Block with over-spends against Independent
Special Schools (£0.65 million), special school places (£0.62 million), top ups for
alternative provision services (£0.49 million) and mainstream primary schools
(£1.08 million), all caused by increases to activity. The outturn report for 2017/18
identified an on-going cost pressure of £0.5 million in the High Needs
Programme at the start of the year and balances are being used to fund this
pressure.
26. The council’s High Needs Programme is focussing on addressing this financial
pressure. Whilst it was planned that balances brought forward should cover the
pressure in year, this is no longer the case. Changes to funding arrangements
are currently being discussed with the Schools Forum to bring the DSG back into
balance in future years. There is a risk that any potential over-spend in future
years which could not be addressed through the DSG ring-fenced grant may
result in a GCC funding commitment. This reflects an emerging national picture,
around which lobbying continues for additional funding and flexibility to move
funding between DSG blocks.
Communities & Infrastructure
27. Communities and Infrastructure current forecast is a £0.701 million overspend
(0.9% of the budget).
28. Highways Commissioning are reporting an underlying £1.2 million overspend
at this stage in the year. The anticipated overspend is due to additional
pothole repair works to recover the network following the severe winter, as
well as the revised contract arrangements with Amey during the last year of
the contract. Although there are some anticipated underspends on capital
works during the last year of the contract, additional revenue costs are
anticipated with demobilisation of the Amey contract and pre-mobilisation of
the new highways contractor. Some of these costs have been mitigated by
the transfer of £0.500 million from the technical and corporate budgets due to
positive experience on the insurance claims handling within highways,
reducing the forecast over spend down to £0.700 million.
29. The Integrated Transport budget is reporting a £0.060 million overspend position
due to long term bus contracts being awarded which include inflationary
corrections in the new tender prices. Further pressure on transport budgets can
be expected as more bus contracts expire this year. We are also closely
monitoring the impact of fuel price inflation being higher than expected and the
potential impact of legislative changes impacting community transport.

8

Page 34

30. Registrar’s are reporting an over recovery of £0.120 million of income based on
current estimates.
31. Strategic Infrastructure are forecasting a £0.061 million overspend, the majority
of this (£0.032 million) is due to an increased staff resource in Transport
Planning required to manage the additional workload associated with emerging
major transport schemes such as the west Cheltenham Cyber Business Park
and M5 J10 and £0.014 million for additional scanning costs due to the office
move of the Heritage function.
32. The Fire and Rescue Service, Waste, Libraries, Trading Standards, Coroners
and Customer Services are all reporting breakeven positions at year end.
33. Cabinet is requested to note the recommendation to Council regarding the
funding of the M5 Junction 10 works which are included in the Cheltenham
Cyber Business Park – Transport Mitigation and M5 Junction 10 Business Case
Development report elsewhere on this agenda.

Business Support Services
34. The forecast outturn for Business Support Services is a balanced position.
35. Strategy & Challenge are forecasting a balanced position, which takes into account
the risks around income targets which are being actively managed. Extraordinary
legal child protection cases will continue to be funded corporately.

Technical and Cross Cutting
36. The forecast outturn position for Technical and Corporate budgets is a £4.3
million underspend (9.3% of budget), the main reasons are:37. Positive interest rate credits on balances are forecasting to achieve an over
recovery of income of £2.5 million above budget reflecting better diversification
of investments and longer term deposits and additional income following the
Bank of England base rate change.
38. The 2018/19 budget included an MtC2 savings contingency; this was approved
by Council to reflect the high risk nature of some of the savings programmes in
demand led areas in 2018/19. Given the difficulties in achieving savings across
some services as outlined in this report the full £1.6 million contingency has
been released to support the overall budget.
39. There has been a re-tendering of the insurance contracts, which has resulted in
a favourable forecast underspend of £0.182 million on the corporate insurance
9

Page 35

budget. The claims experience on highways has also continued to be positive
and is forecasting a £0.500 million under spend which it is proposed be
transferred to Highways.

Gloucestershire Business Rates Pilot 2018/19
40. The financial impact of the Council being part of a Business Rate Retention
(BRR) pilot could not be definitively estimated when the budget was
approved in February 2018 so the potential impact was excluded from the
base budget, although identified for ear marking at £4.6 million. The
completion of the National Non Domestic Rate (NNDR) income returns by the
district councils and the receipt of Section 31 grant notifications from Central
Government has given more certainty. Therefore the July Cabinet approved
an increase of the overall budget by £4.6 million. This additional budget will
be allocated during the year by Cabinet in line with the priorities approved by
Full Council in February 2018.
41. The first allocations of £2.6 million to offset demand pressures in Children
and Families and £0.530 million to Highways Local, reflecting these
earmarked priorities agreed by Full Council in February 2018, were approved
at the July 2018 Cabinet. This left £1.470 million of the additional BRR pilot
income remaining unallocated; £1 million for Adult Social Care and £0.47
million for Electric Vehicle Infrastructure as per Council in February 2018.
42. Approval is sought to allocate the £1 million earmarked for Adult Social Care
to fund the one off costs associated with the Adult Social Care Workforce
Plan and support any demand pressures which emerge through winter
planning and winter itself. Approval is also sought to allocate the remaining
£0.470 million to the Communities and Infrastructure budget to fund
investment in electric vehicle infrastructure.
43. The September GEGJC Business Rates Pool paper shows that the latest
forecast estimates the level of Pilot benefit could be as high as £14.4 million,
which would mean a £7.2 million benefit to GCC compared to the original £4.6
million. The final amount of BRR Pilot benefit may reduce over the course of
the financial year because any prior-year adjustments or rates appeals will
reduce the amount of income retained. Given the risks the strong advice from
the Pool Management Team (the CFOs of the Gloucestershire Councils) is that
resource allocation decisions about any additional income should only be made
following the 2018/19 outturn position (April 2019) once there is absolute clarity
on both the amount of business rates retained and the distribution.
B. Delivery of Meeting the Challenge 3 Savings Programme

10

Page 36

44. At the end of Quarter 1 of the 2018/19 Meeting the Challenge 3 (MTC3)
savings plan, we are reporting £5.8 million delivered against a 2018/19 target of
£18.686 million. This represents 31% of the annual target now achieved, but is
bolstered by the early delivery of savings from ‘Technical and Corporate’
budgets.
45. The overall savings programme is on track and we are currently forecasting
that all savings will be achieved in full by the end of the financial year.
However, given that we are early in the financial year, and our reliance on a
single area (Adults) to achieve the majority of remaining savings, this position
may change as the year progresses.
46. Additionally, there is £3.305 million of outstanding savings to be achieved from
MTC2, of which, £1.283 million is on track to be achieved by the end of 18/19.
Plans for the remaining savings are currently being reviewed, and mitigating
plans will be in place by October.

Programme/Project

18/19
savings
target

Outstanding MTC2
savings
Children and Families

Achieved
to date

Forecast
18/19
(incl
achieved)

At Risk

£,000

£,000

£,000

150

0

0

150

Public Health
Education
ICT

2,496
93
131

0
0
0

1,059
93
131

1,437
0
0

Supporting People
Total MTC2

435
3,305

0
0

0
1,283

435
2,022

350

50

350

0

11,561
641
541
50
50
50
167
50
160
396
250
20
4,400
18,686
21,991

1,202
0
0
0
0
50
28
50
0
0
0
20
4,400
5,800
5,800

11,561
641
541
50
50
50
167
50
160
396
250
20
4,400
18,686
19,969

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,022

MTC3
Education
Adults Single
Programme
Public Health
Supporting People
Parking
Integrated Transport
Libraries
Waste
Infrastructure Planning
Fire & Rescue Service
Support services
Commercial approach
Strategy & Challenge
Corp & Tech
Total MTC3
Total MTC2 + MTC3

11

Page 37

Notes

Plans to address this to be in
place by Sept 2018
At risk for 18/19, but will be
contained by budget position
and planned to be delivered in
full.
Plans to address this to be in
place by Sept 2018

C. Capital Expenditure
Current Spend 2018/19
47. The capital budget for 2018/19 is £103.731 million. Actual spend against the
capital programme as at end July 2018 is £21.097 million.
Budget and Capital Forecast Outturn Position 2018/19
48. The forecast outturn position for 2018/19 against budgets is £103.483 million,
showing a forecast slippage of £0.248 million.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2018/19

Service Area
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale
Adults

Reprofiled
Budget
2018/19
£000
0

% Current
Year
Spend
against
Reprofiled
Budget
%

Current
Year
Spend
2018/19
£000
0

Forecast
Outturn
2018/19
£000
0

Forecast
Year-end
Variance
£000
0

7,777

2,798

36

7,777

0

22,934

6,975

30

22,934

0

50,861

7,840

15

50,861

0

3,317

905

27

3,374

57

663

130

20

663

0

Libraries

1,887

334

18

1,857

-30

Community Safety

1,816

107

6

1,551

-265

AMPS

9,121

1,507

17

9,121

0

ICT projects

3,117

131

4

3,117

0

771

0

0

771

0

1,161

367

32

1,161

0

304

2

1

295

-10

103,731

21,097

20

103,483

-248

Children & Families
Communities
Highways
Strategic Infrastructure
Waste Disposal

Business Support

Business Service Centre
Archives & Information Management
Customer
Total

Strategic Infrastructure Capital Programme
49. Infrastructure schemes are forecast to spend £3.374 million in 2018/19, against a
current budget of £3.317 million, giving a forecast overspend of £0.057 million.
The Priors/Oakley flood alleviation scheme is forecast to overspend by £0.150
million but this is partially offset by slippage on two other flood alleviation
schemes. The reasons for the Priors/Oakley overspend are additional
archaeology costs, landowner compensation and delays due to winter working,
all of which have increased the overall scheme costs considerably. It is
12

Page 38

recommended that Cabinet approves a transfer of £0.150 million from the
Highways Capital Programme to fund these additional costs.
Libraries Capital Programme
50. Libraries schemes are forecast to spend £1.857 million in 2018/19, against a
current budget of £1.887 million, forecasting slippage of £0.030 million. This
slippage is a result of three schemes which are unable to progress until 2019/20.
Community Safety Capital Programme
51. Fire and Rescue schemes are forecast to spend £1.551 million in 2018/19,
against a current budget of £1.816 million, forecasting slippage of £0.265 million.
This slippage relates to two projects. Firstly, the Mobile Data Terminals scheme
where slippage of £0.050 million is forecast because the ability of suppliers to
deliver and install MDTs within the original timescales is in question. Secondly,
the Aerial Ladder Platform scheme has been delayed in order to allow the best
replacement vehicle for the current appliance to be identified, this work will be
completed by the end of the year and the project is now forecast to complete in
2019/20.
Customer Projects Capital Programme
52. Customer schemes are forecast to spend £0.294 million in 2018/19, against a
current budget of £0.304 million, forecasting slippage of £0.010 million. This
slippage is a result of the case management system planned for the complaints
service which will not be progressed until suitable software has been identified
that will adequately meet the needs of the team. At present the systems
identified fall short of our needs.
All other Capital Programmes
53. All other programmes are forecast to spend in line with the current budget for the
year.
Changes to the Capital Programme in 2018/19 and future years
Highways
54. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £0.013 million in the Highways
capital budget, funded by the following additional resources;
 £0.003 million of other external contributions secured towards one public
transport and one safety scheme.
 £0.010 million of Highways Locals contributions identified to part fund one
public transport and one safety scheme.
The additional funding totals £0.013 million, all of which is anticipated to be spent
this financial year.

13

Page 39

Overall Change to Capital Programme
55. As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will increase by
£0.013 million.
D. Gloucestershire Business Rate Retention Pilot 2019/20
56. The Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is
committed to continuing to give local authorities greater control over the money
they raise locally. In December 2017 MHCLG announced the aim of increasing the
level of business rates retained by local government from the current 50% to the
equivalent of 75% in April 2020.
57. In order to test the 75% business rates retention system and to aid understanding
of how local authorities transition into a reformed business rates retention system
in April 2020 MHCLG is inviting local authorities in England to apply to become
75% business rates retention pilots in 2019/20. Pilot authorities will be expected to
focus on the learning necessary for transition to the proposed new scheme in
2020/21.
58. The following should be noted:


Business rate pilots in 2019/20 will retain 75% of local rates – in line with
the current proposal to move to a nationwide 75% scheme in 2020/21.
Councillors will recall that the current Business Rate Pilot is based on
100% Business Rate retention. This change reflects the change in the
proposed scheme that will be applicable from 2020/21.



Not all authorities with 100% pilots in 2018/19 will necessarily continue
them into 2019/20. All the pilots who were successful in 2018/19,
including Gloucestershire, will have to re-apply for 2019/20.



MHCLG is keen to see authorities forming pools as part of the pilot
programme.



The safety net will be set at 95% of Baseline Funding, however current
guidance is that there will not be a ‘no detriment clause’ – which is
different from the current pilot. This is because MHCLG wishes the pilots
to test the pooled authorities’ approach to risk. MHCLG state that
applying a ‘no detriment’ clause to the pilots would not be reflective of the
reformed business rates retention system that the government aims to
introduce in 2020/21.
Deadline is tight – initial bids had to be submitted by 25th September
2018.



59. A proposal from Gloucestershire to become a pilot for 2019/20 fits the criteria that
MHCLG are looking for in terms of a rural two-tier system of local government and
having previously been a Business Rates Pool.
14

Page 40

60. There are some significant risks associated with becoming a pilot at this time due
to the existing high levels of appeals within the business rates system dating back
to 2010 as well as the potential for appeals on the new 2017 list to be higher than
the Council (and indeed government) have anticipated.
61. In addition NHS Trusts are taking legal action against billing authorities regarding
their application for mandatory relief from business rates. If mandatory relief is
applied to the NHS Trusts this would result in an 80% ongoing reduction in their
business rates and they would also be due a backdated refund for the previous 6
years.
62. A paper was presented to Gloucestershire Economic Joint Growth Committee on
4th September 2018 – they were supportive of the pilot bid based on the current
distribution of financial benefits. This decision was subject to confirmation of each
Council’s Section 151 officers / Directors of Finance regarding the financial benefits
and risks.
63. The Directors of Finance in Gloucestershire, in consultation with external
consultants, have undertaken detailed financial modelling of the risk/reward of a
75% pilot. Based on this detailed work the Directors of Finance group confirmed
that a bid should be submitted, which was achieved by the deadline of 25th
September 2018.
64. The financial modelling estimates that if successful the pilot would generate circa
£8 million additional funding for Gloucestershire in 2019/20 – 50% of which would
be allocated to GCC. This amount may be significantly reduced if the level of
appeals is higher than anticipated and if the NHS Trust appeal is successful. This
worse case scenario, which is seen as highly unlikely, could potentially reduce the
£8 million of additional funding to a deficit of £1.4 million. Given this risk Finance
Directors supported the bid on the basis that additional funding from the current
BRR pilot gain in 2018/19 is used to cover this potential deficit. The more likely
outcome is additional income for Gloucestershire through pilot gain, which would
be used to support achieving better outcomes for our residents.
65. The bidding process is competitive and MHCLG have advised that they will notify
successful bid areas before or alongside the publication of the provisional Local
Government Finance Settlement.
66. It is recommended that Cabinet approve the pilot in the event the bid is successful.

15

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Cheltenham Cyber Business Park – transport mitigation and
M5 Junction 10 Business Case development

AGENDA NO: 6

Cabinet Date

10th October 2018

Economy, Skills
and Growth

Cllr Lynden Stowe

Key Decision

Yes

Background
Documents



Adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP 3 2015-31)




GFirst LEP Strategic Economic Plan (2014)
Adopted Cheltenham/Gloucester/Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy
(JCS) (2017)
GFirst LEP Board Paper and associated appendix (September 2018)


Location/Contact
for inspection of
Background
Documents

The adopted LTP documents can be viewed by clicking on the link below:
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3
The GFirst LEP Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) can be viewed by clicking on
the link below:
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/4-sep.pdf
The adopted JCS (2017) can be viewed by clicking on the link below:
https://jointcorestrategy.org/examination
The September 2018 GFirst LEP Board Paper and associated appendix can
be viewed by clicking on the links below:
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/264agenda_item_7.i_cheltenham_cyber_park_-_11-9-18.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/261-7.ii_appendix_1__cheltenham_cyber_park.pdf

Main Consultees

•

Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC)

•

Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC)

•

Highways England

•

GFirst LEP

Page 43

Cheltenham Cyber Business Park

Planned Dates
•

4th December 2018 – GFirst LEP Board meeting to confirm GCC
becoming the scheme promotor.

•

12th December 2018 – GCC Cabinet to consider the package of
proposed transport mitigation schemes.

•

Autumn 2019 – Potential GFirst LEP Board approval of Business Case
and potential start of first elements of the project.

•

March 2021 – All schemes funded through the £22M Growth Deal
allocation should be in contract and scheduled for delivery.
M5 Junction 10

Divisional
Councillor
Officer

•

1st March 2019 – deadline for final Outline Business Case (OBC)
submission to Homes England.

•

May 2019 – funding decision expected.

All.

Simon Excell, Lead Commissioner; Strategic Infrastructure
Simon.excell@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 44

Purpose of Report
To update members on the significant transport improvements emerging for
both west of Cheltenham and at M5 Junction 10.
To seek authorisation to become project promoter of the £22M Growth Deal
3 allocation for the Cheltenham Cyber Business Park transport mitigation
package.
To support the expenditure of a further £550K (and notes the total
expenditure of £1M) on the development of an OBC for the M5 Junction 10
Housing Investment Fund (HIF) bid submission.
To support the use of up to £275K from the A417 Missing Link reserve
should the County Council fail to obtain funding from the Homes England
bid to fund the OBC for M5 Junction 10.
To authorise officers to start spending against the £3.3M for the Cyber
Business Park transport mitigation package that the County Council has
already received from Government via a s31 grant to support the
preparation of the scheme business case(s) for the Cheltenham cyber park
mitigation package.
To support the submission of the M5 Junction 10 OBC to Homes England
no later than the deadline of 1st March 2019.
That Cabinet:
(1) Approves that the County Council becomes project promoter of the
£22M Growth Deal 3 allocation for the Cheltenham Cyber Business
Park transport mitigation package;

Recommendations

(2) Approves the use of the £3.3M Growth Deal funding the County
Council has already received from Government via a s31 grant to
progress the preparation of the scheme business case(s) for the
Cheltenham Cyber Business Park ahead of the formal funding by the
GFirst LEP Board;
(3) Notes that a further £550K will be required during 2018/19 on the
development of an Outline Business Case (OBC) for the M5 Junction
10 Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) bid submission to Homes
England by the deadline of 1st March 2019;
(4) Recommends to Council that up to £275K is allocated from the A417
Missing Link Reserve to fund the OBC for M5 Junction 10, should the
County Council fail to obtain funding from the Homes England bid.

Reasons for
recommendations

The recommended actions will enable the County Council to take the lead, as
Transport Authority and Highway Authority, on the proposed major transport
improvements to the west and north west of Cheltenham. This will help

Page 45

enable and mitigate the significant growth identified in the recently adopted
JCS.
Resource
Implications

Cheltenham Cyber Business Park
In February 2017, Government announced a Growth Deal 3 allocation of
£22M for the ‘Cheltenham Cyber Business Park infrastructure and site
preparation’. The Growth Deal funding profile for the project is currently as
follows:
2018/19 - £3.3M
2019/20 - £13.2M
2020/21 - £5.5M
CBC is currently the promoter for the scheme. Were the County Council to
become the promoter, it would be responsible and accountable for the
planning and delivery of the project and the associated Growth Deal funding.
It is anticipated that the £3.3M Growth Deal funding the County Council has
already received from Government via a s31 grant is made available to
support the preparation of the scheme business case(s) in 2018/19.
On 11th September 2018, the GFirst LEP Board agreed that the scheme
promoter could change from CBC to the County Council, subject to Cabinet
approval and that the £3.3M could be used to fund the business case subject
to the Programme Management Group ensuring that the correct processes
have been followed.
Any of the £3.3M funding spent on business case preparation work will be at
risk to the County Council (if agreeing to take on the promoter role) until the
point when the Business Case is formally approved by the GFirst LEP Board.
Were the County Council to progress, as project promoter, with the future
delivery of the suite of transport mitigation measures, it would be liable for
any cost overruns (as is the case with all Growth Deal projects).
M5 Junction 10
A total of £1M is required to commission and complete the OBC. This £1M is
‘at risk’ and the HIF fund is oversubscribed nationally and therefore there is
no guarantee that the scheme will progress to Full Business Case (FBC) and
subsequent construction. In the event Homes England funding is not
obtained, the worst case scenario would be that the County Council would
have spent £1M on preparation costs for a project that is not implemented
(albeit the OBC will be a valuable asset for future use).
A total of £450K of County Council revenue has already been allocated to the
development of an OBC for the M5 Junction 10 HIF bid submission. This was
split into: £200K (Executive Officer Decision dated 25th July 2018 from GCC’s

Page 46

Transport Planning budget) and £250K (Executive Officer/Member Decision
dated 15th August 2018 from GCC’s Highways Development Management
budget).
Two bids have been submitted to secure the remaining required £550K:



£275K bid to GEGJC; and
£275K bid to Homes England

GEGJC has agreed in principle to fund the £275K, given the strategic
importance of the scheme in supporting growth, and the seven local
authorities will confirm the release of the funding to officers before the next
meeting.
If the Homes England bid is unsuccessful, then the County Council would
need to underwrite the costs, hence Cabinet is asked to approve the use of
the A417 Missing Link reserve if required. The A417 Missing Link Funding
Agreement between the County Council and Homes England for the
remaining £2.74M would therefore have to be redrafted if this is the case.
If the project proceeds through to FBC and subsequent delivery then there is
the possibility that some of the £1M can be capitalised and claimed back from
the capital that would be allocated by Homes England for the scheme.

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS
Background
Cheltenham Cyber Business Park
In February 2017, Government announced a Growth Deal 3 allocation of £22M for ‘the
Cheltenham Cyber Business Park infrastructure and site preparation’. This brought the
total Growth Deal allocation for Gloucestershire to £101.7M.
The purpose of the allocated funding is to enable the opening up of a strategic
employment land allocation by bringing forward highway infrastructure improvements,
enabling capacity on the network to accelerate an early phased release of the west of
Cheltenham employment site. The strategic allocation includes 45 hectares of much
needed employment land, focussed on cyber industries generating new high skilled
jobs, together with facilitating the delivery of the GCHQ Cyber Innovation Centre.
Together with around 1,100 new homes, the strategic allocation will bring forward a
sustainable mixed use urban extension to Cheltenham.
Cyber security is an increasingly important economic business sector for
Gloucestershire and the UK economy as a whole. It is the technology and mechanism
which allows everyone to operate securely within the digital world in terms of business,
commerce and our private lives. Everyone engages on a daily basis with cyber
infrastructure through work, leisure, shopping, banking, social media etc. and this

Page 47

engagement needs to be secure. The Government recently published the National
Cyber Security Strategy to support the high importance placed on this sector and the
threats, challenges and opportunities that lie ahead. This is an excellent opportunity for
Gloucestershire to continue to lead on national cyber security / defence / intelligence.
The Growth Deal funding bid was submitted to GFirst LEP by CBC, who is the current
scheme promoter for the project. However, as CBC does not hold responsibility for
highways nor have transport specialists within its officer team, CBC has approached
the County Council to become project promoter and to lead on the delivery of these
highway infrastructure improvements which will contribute to a wider mitigation package
of interventions to open up the development site for the Cyber Park.
M5 Junction 10
The proposal for the development of M5 J10, and particularly with regard to enabling an
all-movements junction, has been an issue over a number of years. It is now identified
as a priority to address the barriers to growth and traffic issues that the current limited
movement junction arrangement creates, together with the level of development
proposed in the JCS.
M5 J10 is currently one of the few junctions on the M5 with restricted access and
resolving this issue is a top priority within the County Council’s adopted LTP. At
present, the junction has no access to join the motorway travelling south and there is no
exit for motorway traffic coming from the south. This results in traffic wishing to access
the north west of Cheltenham having to use more local roads which causes congestion.
A new layout would see environmental benefits from less traffic travelling through
Cheltenham and businesses would see savings in their transport costs as they would
no longer need to travel to/from J11. Emergency services would also be able to
respond more quickly to incidents on the M5 in the vicinity of the junction.
The junction upgrade is considered to be a vital part of the future infrastructure
requirements for Gloucestershire. It is specifically identified as part of the transport
mitigation package that is required to facilitate the future residential and commercial
growth in the county – much of which is identified in the adopted JCS.
GFirst LEP also recognise that their proposals for the M5 Growth Zone will require the
improvement of various motorway junctions including M5 Junction 10 and regard the
improvements as one of their top infrastructure priorities in the county identified in their
SEP. The all-movements scheme is supported by a wide range of stakeholders
including the local MP for Cheltenham, the JCS planning authorities, local parish
councils, the emergency services and many local businesses and organisations.
The latest County Council bid to try to fund the project was the submission of an
Expression of Interest (EoI) to the HIF. This EoI was submitted to Homes England in
September 2017 and was for a total of £249M for the following scheme elements:




An all-movements M5 Junction 10;
A new dual link road and associated junctions linking the new M5 Junction 10 to
the west Cheltenham strategic allocation;
An expanded Arle Court park and ride site and new site access; and

Page 48



A ‘Smart Motorway’ upgrade for the stretch of the M5 from J9 to J11a.

Progress to date / future issues
Cheltenham Cyber Business Park
Cheltenham is a key driver for the economic prosperity of Gloucestershire, as well as
the wider South West region. The County Council recognises the strategic west of
Cheltenham development opportunities and is highly supportive of the emerging Cyber
Park proposal. Congestion already exists to the west of Cheltenham, however, and it is
important that any future growth in this area is mitigated through appropriate,
sustainable transport mitigation measures.
As stated above, CBC is currently the project promoter, but it is considered that the
County Council is better placed to be the promoter of the project, due to having the
relevant qualified officers in its roles as both Transport Authority and Highway Authority,
as well as a proven track record of successfully delivering major, strategic transport
projects in recent years.
The scheme elements currently considered by GCC include junction improvements,
bus priority measures, signal improvements and corridor widening in the general area
of the A4019 and A40 corridors. Which and how many of these elements can be
delivered through the Growth Deal allocation will be the outcome of ongoing work
currently undertaken by GCC. Opportunities for potential other funding sources such
as S106 developer funding or HIF funding will be considered.
Officers are confident that the project promoter role can be adopted by the County
Council, subject to the satisfactory outcome of defining, prioritising and costing
exercises of the potential transport elements that could contribute to the wider
mitigation package, which is currently being undertaken. This work will include a high
level assessment of potential highway improvement schemes that have previously been
identified through the adopted JCS transport strategy, developers and GCC capital
schemes. It will use an input matrix, based on scores against economic, social and
environmental impacts as well as deliverability and cost considerations. When known, it
is recommended that the proposed package of scheme elements to be delivered is
reported to Cabinet in December 2018.
M5 Junction 10
The HIF announcement was made in March 2018, at which time the County Council
was notified of its successful entry to the next stage, the co-development stage. This
stage remains competitive and it has been suggested that the Fund is over-subscribed.
Successful Local Highway Authorities are now invited to submit an OBC.
In June 2018 County Council officers received further guidance regarding the required
contents of the OBC and the individual elements were identified. Although there is a
strong element of demonstrating the housing that will be enabled by the scheme, there
is also, for highways schemes, a traditional ‘WebTag’ appraisal based on DfT
assessment criteria.

Page 49

The preparation of the OBC submission has been costed by the County Council’s
consultants (Amey) at a cost of approximately £1M. This will include the following
elements:







Strategic case
Options appraisal
Economic case
Commercial case
Financial case
Management case

Options for the new motorway junction, associated adjacent junctions, the link road and
the smart motorway will be developed as part of the OBC development. It is
recommended that a preferred option is submitted to Homes England no later than 1st
March 2019.
If the County Council wishes to progress to this stage, the required £1M would be ‘at
risk’ as there is no guarantee that the scheme will progress to FBC and subsequent
construction. In the event Homes England funding is not obtained, the worst case
scenario would be that the County Council would have spent £1M on preparation costs
for a project that is not implemented (albeit the OBC will be a valuable asset for future
use).
A total of £450K of County Council revenue has already been allocated to the
development of an OBC. This is split into: £200K (Executive Officer Decision from
GCC’s Transport Planning budget) and £250K (Executive Decision from GCC’s
Highways Development Management budget).
Two bids have been submitted to secure the remaining required £550K:



£275K bid to GEGJC; and
£275K bid to Homes England.

If the Homes England bid is unsuccessful, then the County Council would need to
underwrite the costs, hence Cabinet is asked to approve the use of the A417 Missing
Link reserve if required. The A417 Missing Link Funding Agreement between the
County Council and Homes England for the remaining £2.74M would therefore have to
be redrafted if this is the case.
If the project proceeds through to FBC and delivery, there is the possibility that some of
the £1M can be capitalised and claimed back from the capital that would be allocated
by Homes England for the scheme.
Timetables
Cheltenham Cyber Business Park
Due to the extremely constrained timescales, it is important to enable the project
promoter to progress the Business Case development at the earliest opportunity. It is
therefore recommended that the £3.3M the County Council has already received from

Page 50

Government via a s31 grant is made available to support the preparation of the scheme
Business Case(s), ahead of the formal funding by the LEP Board.
On 11th September 2018, the GFirst LEP Board was asked to:
(i)

Approve, in principle, the transfer of the scheme promoter role to the County
Council;
Agree that the delivery of the transport elements to be funded from the £22M
Growth Deal allocation will be progressed ahead of the planning application
for the Cyber Park; and
Agree that the £3.3M referred to above is made available to the County
Council to support the preparation of the Business Case(s).

(ii)
(iii)

All of these recommendations were approved, subject to various provisos highlighted
elsewhere in this report.
The proposed future timetable is as follows:


4th December 2018 – GFirst LEP Board meeting to confirm GCC becoming the
scheme promotor.
 12th December 2018 – GCC Cabinet to consider the package of proposed
transport mitigation schemes.
 Autumn 2019 – Potential GFirst LEP Board approval of Business Case(s) and
potential start of first elements of the project.
 March 2021 – All schemes funded through the £22M Growth Deal allocation
should be in contract and scheduled for delivery.
M5 Junction 10
The proposed future timetable is as follows:
 1st March 2019 – deadline for final OBC submission to Homes England.
 May 2019 – funding decision expected.
Options
The options for Cabinet are as follows:


Option A: To approve the officer recommendations as set out in this report to
become the project promoter for the £22M Cheltenham Cyber Business Park
transport mitigation Growth Deal project; and to approve the required
expenditure to develop and submit an M5 Junction 10 OBC to Homes England
no later than 1st March 2019.



Option B: To approve some or none of the recommendations, which would result
in the County Council not becoming the project promoter for the £22M
Cheltenham Cyber Business Park transport mitigation Growth Deal project;
and/or not approving the required expenditure to develop and submit an M5
Junction 10 OBC to Homes England.

Page 51

Risk Assessment
Cheltenham Cyber Business Park
The key risks associated with this project are as follows:











CBC remain the project promoter and are not in a position to progress the
project.
It is not possible to separate the Growth Deal investment from the planning
application process, leading to delays.
It is not possible to define a suite of transport schemes deliverable by / in
contract by 2021.
The scale of intervention / suite of measures possible with £22M of investment
funding cannot be agreed between all partners involved.
The inability of the scheme promoter to carry the financial risk of scheme cost
overruns.
Revenue risk of forward funding the Business Case development work using
Growth Deal funding (i.e. if the Business Case is not successful, funding has to
be reimbursed to the programme and/or Government ultimately).
Low Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) of any of the proposed schemes, resulting in the
LEP Board not approving the FBC.
The planning application for the Cyber Park is not successful.
Potential clash with future Highways England maintenance works.
Public opposition to proposed suite of measures.

M5 Junction 10
An initial risk register has been prepared for the preparation of the OBC. Key risks are
identified as follows:






If the £1M revenue for the OBC preparation is not secured, the OBC cannot be
produced to a suitable level for submission to Homes England.
If the County Council undertakes the OBC and submits to Homes England on 1st
March 2019, there is a possibility that it is not successful, as it is an
oversubscribed competitive process.
If the OBC is unsuccessful, the A417 Missing Link reserve will be permanently
reduced, as there will be no opportunity to retrospectively claim from the HIF
capital fund, or other identified funding sources.
If unsuccessful at this stage, it is unlikely that the Government will consider any
further bids for upgrading M5 Junction 10 in the near future.
The adopted JCS transport mitigation strategy includes the M5 J10 upgrade. If
the OBC is not successful there is a risk that the JCS housing and employment
sites cannot be delivered.

As with any major transport / highways project, the associated risks of both projects will
be actively and continuously monitored and any significant changes affecting the scope
of the project will be discussed at the Major Projects Board and reported to the relevant
Lead Cabinet Member.

Page 52

Officer Advice
That Cabinet approve the recommendations set out in this report.
Equalities considerations
The M5 Junction 10 ‘all movements access’ is specifically identified in the County
Council’s adopted LTP which includes analysis of data in regard to user needs. The
detailed design of the final scheme will be undertaken in accordance with relevant
guidance in relation to equalities and safety.
The Cheltenham Cyber Business Park transport mitigation strategy is specifically
identified and allocated in the adopted JCS. This Plan was subject to a full appraisal of
equalities considerations. The detailed design of the final scheme elements will be
undertaken in accordance with relevant guidance in relation to equalities and safety.
Consultation feedback
The County Council carried out an extensive consultation in 2015/16 prior to the
adoption of the LTP in which the M5 Junction 10 scheme is specifically listed as one of
the top three transport priorities in the county. In addition, as part of a recent bid
submission, letters of support for the scheme have been received from GFirst LEP,
TBC, CBC, Highways England, local MPs, etc.
Due to its relative recent emergence, the Cheltenham Cyber Business Park transport
mitigation package is not identified in the County Council’s adopted LTP (2016).
However, in November 2017, the LTP was updated to make reference to the JCS
Transport Strategy and Transport Evidence Base. This was issued by the JCS
authorities and it should be referred to alongside the adopted LTP. The JCS documents
outline a mitigation strategy which manages the increased travel demand derived from
the planned growth in Cheltenham linked to the strategic allocations in North West and
West Cheltenham. The JCS was subject to various stages of public consultation prior to
its adoption in December 2017, the most recent of which was February to April 2017.
Performance Management/Follow-up
The County Council has set up a clear and robust structure to provide accountability
and an effectual decision making process for the management of all major transport /
highways projects, including all of the GFirst LEP funded schemes. Each scheme will
have a designated project manager who will be an appropriately trained and
experienced GCC officer.
Scheme costs and delivery will be continuously managed in accordance with the
business case objectives and regular meetings of the Major Projects Board. In addition,
regular updates will be provided on both projects at the Strategic Transport Board
meetings.

Page 53

Report Title

Cheltenham Cyber Business Park – transport mitigation and
M5 Junction 10 Business Case development

Statutory Authority

Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Local Transport Act 2008
Localism Act 2011
Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013
Infrastructure Act 2015

Relevant County Council
policy

Adopted LTP (2016)

Resource Implications

Cheltenham Cyber Business Park
In February 2017, Government announced a Growth Deal 3
allocation of £22M for the ‘Cheltenham Cyber Business Park
infrastructure and site preparation’. The Growth Deal funding
profile for the project is currently as follows:
2018/19 - £3.3M
2019/20 - £13.2M
2020/21 - £5.5M
CBC is currently the promoter for the scheme. Were the
County Council to become the promoter, it would be
responsible and accountable for the planning and delivery of
the project and the associated Growth Deal funding.
It is anticipated that the £3.3M Growth Deal funding the County
Council has already received from Government via a s31 grant
is made available to support the preparation of the scheme
business case(s) in 2018/19.
On 11th September 2018, the GFirst LEP Board agreed that
the scheme promoter could change from CBC to the County
Council, subject to Cabinet approval and that the £3.3M could
be used to fund the business case subject to the Programme
Management Group ensuring that the correct processes have
been followed.
Any of the £3.3M funding spent on business case preparation
work will be at risk to the County Council (if agreeing to take on
the promoter role) until the point when the Business Case is
formally approved by the GFirst LEP Board.
Were the County Council to progress, as project promoter, with

Page 54

the future delivery of the suite of transport mitigation measures,
it would be liable for any cost overruns (as is the case with all
Growth Deal projects).
M5 Junction 10
A total of £1M is required to commission and complete the
OBC. This £1M is ‘at risk’ and the HIF fund is oversubscribed
nationally and therefore there is no guarantee that the scheme
will progress to Full Business Case (FBC) and subsequent
construction. In the event Homes England funding is not
obtained, the worst case scenario would be that the County
Council would have spent £1M on preparation costs for a
project that is not implemented (albeit the OBC will be a
valuable asset for future use).
A total of £450K of County Council revenue has already been
allocated to the development of an OBC for the M5 Junction 10
HIF bid submission. This was split into: £200K (Executive
Officer Decision dated 25th July 2018 from GCC’s Transport
Planning budget) and £250K (Executive Officer/Member
Decision dated 15th August 2018 from GCC’s Highways
Development Management budget).
Two bids have been submitted to secure the remaining
required £550K:
•
•

£275K bid to GEGJC; and
£275K bid to Homes England

GEGJC has agreed in principle to fund the £275K, given the
strategic importance of the scheme in supporting growth, and
the seven local authorities will confirm the release of the
funding to officers before the next meeting.
If the Homes England bid is unsuccessful, then the County
Council would need to underwrite the costs, hence Cabinet is
asked to approve the use of the A417 Missing Link reserve if
required. The A417 Missing Link Funding Agreement between
the County Council and Homes England for the remaining
£2.74M would therefore have to be redrafted if this is the case.
If the project proceeds through to FBC and subsequent delivery
then there is the possibility that some of the £1M can be
capitalised and claimed back from the capital that would be
allocated by Homes England for the scheme.
Sustainability checklist:

Page 55

Partnerships

The delivery of successful outcomes for these major, strategic
transport improvements will require efficient partnership
arrangements between key stakeholders, including: Highways
England, CBC, TBC, GFirst LEP, etc.

Decision Making and
Involvement

The consultation processes associated with these projects are
specified in this report. The County Council’s Cabinet will be
presented with the proposed package of Cyber transport
mitigation measures in December 2018. The M5 J10 funding
decision will be made by the Government in May 2019.

Economy and Employment

The purpose of the GFirst LEP funding is to enable the opening
up of a strategic employment land allocation by bringing
forward highway infrastructure improvements, enabling
capacity on the network to accelerate an early phase release of
the west of Cheltenham employment site. The strategic
allocation includes 45 hectares of much needed employment
land, focussed on cyber industries generating new high skilled
jobs, together with facilitating the delivery of the GCHQ Cyber
Innovation Centre. Together with around 1,100 new homes, the
strategic allocation will bring forward a sustainable mixed use
urban extension to Cheltenham.
A new all-movements M5 Junction 10 would better enable
future employment and residential growth to the North West of
Cheltenham and beyond.

Caring for People

The local community is severely constrained by the current
road network causing severance, air pollution and road safety
concerns. The proposed transport schemes will have a positive
impact on many of Cheltenham’s residential areas.

Social Value

The strategic allocation includes 45 hectares of much needed
employment land, focussed on cyber industries generating new
high skilled jobs, together with facilitating the delivery of the
GCHQ Cyber Innovation Centre.

Built Environment

The proposed transport schemes will help to enable future
growth as outlined above.

Natural Environment’
including Ecology
(Biodiversity)

Any future major, strategic transport scheme will be subject to
stringent environmental assessments which will seek to ensure
the protection and possible enhancement of the natural
environment, including ecology.

Education and Information

As part of any future quality tender evaluation, the successful
contractor will need to outline their strategy for community
engagement, (school visits / weekly site bulletins / social media
and comms plan).

Page 56

Tackling Climate Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative
Vulnerable to climate change?

Due Regard Statement

Yes/ No/ Maybe

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?
No – The M5 Junction 10 scheme is included in the County
Council’s adopted LTP which includes analysis of data in
regard to user needs and was subject to a Due Regard
Statement.
The design of the transport mitigation package associated with
the Cyber Business Park will be undertaken in accordance with
relevant guidance in relation to equalities and safety.

Human rights Implications
Consultation
Arrangements

None
The County Council carried out an extensive consultation in
2015/16 prior to the adoption of the LTP in which the M5
Junction 10 scheme is specifically listed as one of the top three
transport priorities in the county. In addition, as part of a recent
bid submission, letters of support for the scheme have been
received from GFirst LEP, TBC, CBC, Highways England, local
MPs, etc.
Due to its relative recent emergence, the Cheltenham Cyber
Business Park transport mitigation package is not identified in
the County Council’s adopted LTP (2016). However, in
November 2017, the LTP was updated to make reference to
the JCS Transport Strategy and Transport Evidence Base. This
was issued by the JCS authorities and it should be referred to
alongside the adopted LTP. The JCS documents outline a
mitigation strategy which manages the increased travel
demand derived from the planned growth in Cheltenham linked
to the strategic allocations in North West and West
Cheltenham. The JCS was subject to various stages of public
consultation prior to its adoption in December 2017, the most
recent of which was February to April 2017.

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
A38 Cross Keys Roundabout Capacity Improvements and
Signalisation – contract procurement and ancillary orders
Cabinet Date

10th October 2018

Environment
and Planning

Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision

Yes

Background
Documents

Location/Contact
for inspection of
Background
Documents
Main Consultees



Department for Transport National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF)
for the Local road Network; Application Form 2017
Adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP 3 2016)



http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3
Department for Transport National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) for
the Local road Network; Application Form 2017 (Please see Appendix A)







Planned Dates









Divisional
Councillor
Officer

AGENDA NO: 7

Local Member (Cllr S Davies for Hardwicke/Severn)
Stroud District Council
Highways England
MP’s David Drew (Stroud) and Richard Graham (Gloucester)
Wide range of consultees as part of the statutory consultation exercise
(Police/Ambulance/Freight & Haulage associations)
Residents, general public and businesses
(Public share events are scheduled for September 2018)
NPIF Award Letter - October 2017
Detailed design start – November 2017
Detailed design end – Nov 2018
Issue tender documents – Jan 2019
Tender assessment and award – March 2019
Construction start – April 2019
Scheme complete and open to the public – Nov 2019

Cllr S Davies for Hardwicke/Severn
Scott Macaulay-Lowe, Team Leader; Major Schemes. Highways
Commissioning
scott.macaulay-lowe@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 59

Purpose of Report



To seek Cabinet approval for the Lead Commissioner; Highway
Authority, to be authorised to conduct a compliant competitive tender
process and to award a contract in respect of the A38 Cross Keys
roundabout capacity improvements and signalisation proposals; and



For the Lead Commissioner; Highway Authority, to be authorised to
acquire land required for the scheme and make any other ancillary
orders that might be required to successfully implement the scheme.
This authority will enable GCC to make legal orders such as temporary
traffic regulation orders (TTRO’s for speed limits etc) during the
construction phase of the project.

That Cabinet authorise the Lead Commissioner; Highway Authority to:
(1) conduct a compliant competitive tender process for the award of a
contract to a single supplier for the construction of the A38 Cross Keys
Roundabout Capacity Improvements and Signalisation Scheme

Recommendations

(2) upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, and in consultation
with the Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, to enter into a
contract with the preferred provider evaluated as offering the Council
best value for money for delivery of the services. In the event that the
preferred provider for the contract is either unable or unwilling to enter
into that contract with the Council then the officer is authorised to enter
into such contract with the next willing highest placed suitably qualified
provider; and
(3) to acquire land required for the scheme make any other ancillary
orders that might be required to successfully implement the scheme.

Reasons for
recommendations
Resource
Implications

The decision will enable the council to pursue the contract award for the
scheme, which will provide the best opportunity to meet the timescales for
project delivery.
The total scheme cost is £3.851m. The scheme will be funded through;



£2.696 million from the National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF),
secured from the DfT in October 2017 and;
£1.155m from the Highways Capital programme

Please note the £1.155m will be funded from the Highways Capital
programme to allow the project to proceed however we are expecting S106
contributions from the Hunts Grove/Crest Nicolson development to be paid by
1st May 2023 or upon occupation of the 558 dwelling (whichever is the later).
Once the s106 funds have been received the released funding will be
returned to the Highways Programme and utilised on other projects.

Page 60

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS
1. Background
The proposed project is at the junction of the A38 and B4008 known as Cross Keys
Roundabout. This junction is a strategically important junction of the road network in
Gloucestershire. This junction is 800m north of junction 12 of the M5 motorway. It links
directly to Gloucester for vehicles approaching from the motorway and from the A38.
The proposed improvements will provide increased capacity at the roundabout by
widening the circulatory and approaches, installing (partial) traffic signals on the A38
southbound and B4008 northbound, and providing additional enhancements for buses
and cycling. The scheme will cost a total of £3.851m.
The junction consists of a five arm roundabout: A38 Northbound from a point
approximately 150m south of the existing Roundabout), B4008 Northbound from M5
J12 from a point approximately 160m south of the existing Roundabout, B4008 Bath
Road, entrance/exit to/from local services and A38 Southbound from Gloucester from a
point approximately 160m from the existing roundabout. Capacity at the junction will be
further stretched by future development in the area, including housing at Hunts Grove.
The Hunts Grove Development site covers an area of 95 hectares of which over 30
hectares are scheduled as public open space / playing fields, has been identified for
predominantly residential development, with an area of employment development
linked to the existing Waterwells Business Park. The site will accommodate 1750
houses, with a proportion allocated as affordable homes, and a 5.75 hectare Business
Park to the north of the site. Community uses will include a new 1.5 form entry Primary
school, a Nursery school, a sports pavilion, and neighbourhood centre comprising a
community hall, medical centre and other commercial uses (2,000 square metres
shopping centre). The new highway accesses include a principal access from the A38
(Southern Connector) and a new highway link to the north of the site into the existing
Waterwells Business Park (now completed).
The scheme is supported by Highways England (HE), as it is adjacent to M5 J12, which
currently experiences peak time queues and congestion on the exit slip road from the
motorway. The HE, therefore support any proposals to increase capacity and improve
safety and journey time delays.
The required land acquisition for this scheme is in regard to approximately 200m² of
land to the west of the B4008, currently arable field. The land is required for locating
new highway signage on the approach to the roundabout.
This area in question is owned by one landowner and GCC have begun early, positive
dialog with them concerning the settlement for this land.
All other works are within the highway boundary and require no further land acquisition.
2. Proposed improvements

Page 61

The proposed improvements will provide increased capacity at the roundabout by
widening the circulatory and approaches, installing (partial) traffic signals on the A38
southbound and B4008 northbound, and providing additional enhancements for buses
and cycling.
The scheme is necessary to meet our obligations under the Highways Act and the
Traffic Management Act, as well as other legislation and therefore can be considered
as necessary to meet the core value of “Providing the basics”
It also meets the following Local Transport Plan Objectives
Securing conditions for economic growth in Gloucestershire by providing an efficient
transport network
Ensure that communities are given equal opportunities to benefit from economic
prosperity by providing an efficient transport network that enables people to work and
access the places they need, and doesn’t prevent them from working.
Create healthy, safe and engaged communities by maintaining the transport network in
a safe condition and providing a well connected network of cycle and walking routes.
3. Funding breakdown
External Contributions:
The scheme will be funded through £2.696 million from the National Productivity
Investment Fund (NPIF) and £1.155m (from a maximum of £1,355,000 available) of
s.106 contribution from the Hunts Grove/Crest Nicolson development (S106/Land at
Colethrop Farm Hunts Grove, Bath Road, Hardwicke, Glos [S.15/1498/VAR]). The
s.106 contribution will be released to GCC by 1st May 2023 or upon occupation of the
558 dwelling (whichever is the later). In lieu of this contribution, GCC will forward fund
the scheme from the Highways capital programme grant
Reserves:
Nil
Funding breakdown:
£000s
DfT funding sought
Local Authority
contribution
Third Party contribution
TOTAL

2018-19
2696
565

2019-20
N/A
590

3261

590

4. Options
The options for Cabinet are as follows:


Option A: To authorise the Lead Commissioner; Highway Authority to progress
the scheme as set out in this report’s recommendations; or



Option B: To decline this authorisation to the Lead Commissioner; Highway
Authority.

Page 62

5. Risk Assessment
An up to date risk register for the scheme exists and is regularly updated in line with the
GCC Risk Management process, in order to investigate, manage and mitigate key risks.
The key risks can be summarised as follows:
1) The capital costs of the scheme increase as a result of factors uncovered at
preparatory surveys and design stages. Mitigation; Detailed design and
survey work is ongoing to eliminate risk.
2) The purchase of land for planned signage of the roundabout is subject to
agreement with landowner. Mitigation; dialog continues with said land owner,
contingency budget will be made available.
3) New Professional Services contract starts in April 2019. Potential for a delay
to scheme progress if there is a new consultant in place, who may require a
period of mobilisation. Mitigation; Early contractor involvement will take place
with the aim of minimising any disruption to programme.
4) Increases (above those identified in the risk and contingency allowance) in
statutory undertakers’ apparatus diversion or protection costs (Gas Main on
B4008 and BT on A38) to that assumed at bid stage. Mitigation; survey work
continues, risk allowance set aside for potential cost increases
Overall, the risks are well understood and are being eliminated or mitigated as the
project moves forward. There are, however, a number of outstanding risks that could
have an impact on the design and cost of the project. Risks will continue to be actively
monitored and any significant changes affecting the scope of the project will be
reported to the Lead Cabinet Member.
6. Officer Advice
That Cabinet approve the recommendations as set out in this report.
7. Equalities considerations
To date, no specific analysis has been carried out with regard to the protected
characteristics; however, the detailed design of the final scheme will be undertaken in
accordance with relevant guidance in relation to equalities and safety. The Equality Act
2010, states that service providers have a continuing duty to consider impacts on
groups with protected characteristics and therefore monitoring of users once the
scheme is operational will be required to ensure that equality issues pertaining to age,
disability, sex and ethnicity, are being considered and evolved after opening.
Additionally any information on incidents/accidents or in the area around the scheme
will be analysed according to the characteristics of the victim if the information is
available.
8. Consultation feedback
Public share events will be held in September

Page 63

Pre-consultation included engagement with key stakeholders and interested parties,
these included the Local member, local Town and Parish Councils, access and rights of
way groups and scheme users and emergency services.
In addition to the above, the Council has also carried out an extensive consultation on
the adopted Local Transport Plan (2016), in which this scheme is listed as a long-term
capital priority (2021-31).
9. Performance Management/Follow-up
Scheme costs and delivery will continue to be managed in accordance with business
case objectives and the monthly meetings of the Local Transport Plan Management
Board, attended by the relevant Lead Commissioner and Commissioning Director.

Page 64

Report Title

A38 Cross Keys Roundabout Capacity Improvements and
Signalisation – contract procurement and ancillary orders

Statutory Authority

Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004

Relevant County Council
policy

Adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP 3) 2016

Resource Implications

The total scheme cost is £3.851m. The scheme will be funded
through;



£2.696 million from the National Productivity Investment
Fund (NPIF), secured from the DfT in October 2017 and;
£1.155m from the Highways Capital programme

Please note the £1.155m will be funded from the Highways
Capital programme to allow the project to proceed however we
are expecting S106 contributions from the Hunts Grove/Crest
Nicolson development to be paid by 1st May 2023 or upon
occupation of the 558 dwelling (whichever is the later).
Once the s106 funds have been received the released funding
will be returned to the Highways Programme and utilised on
other projects.
Sustainability checklist:
Partnerships

Close working with the preferred contractor (when appointed)
and HE.

Decision Making and
Involvement

During the scheme delivery phase, Gloucestershire County
Council retains governance and control of the delivery of the
Contract. Gloucestershire County Council will act as the client
under the contract with a Contractor appointed via a
competitive tender process. Representatives from
Gloucestershire County Council or their highways maintenance
contractor will be appointed to undertake the project
management and supervision roles and will be responsible for
managing the Contract during the works.

Economy and Employment

Will enable housing and employment development to be
brought forward;
Enables development (housing; employment) to take place,
where residents or employees have access to an improved
highway network;
Improvement in quality, reliability and reduction in travel time

Page 65

for all vehicles.
Caring for people

The scheme is also expected to have a beneficial impact by
reducing cyclist and pedestrians’ accidents. The proposed
crossings at the B4008 exit arm, and widened footways would
provide a safe place to cross and navigate the route and in turn
avoid crossings occurring at random points which would
increase the risk of a collision.
(The scheme design will promote the safety of all users.)
This scheme has the potential to increase physical activity. The
improved crossing points will provide a safe place for both
pedestrians and cyclists to cross this will reduce severance for
potential users and improve confidence in using the route via
such method.

Social Value

Natural Environment’
including Ecology
(Biodiversity)

The key impacts relate to the loss of habitat, in particular the
loss of unimproved and semi-improved neutral grassland within
the roadside verges
Pre-construction species surveys and checks to existing
badger setts should be undertaken for badgers, and vegetation
clearance undertaken outside of the bird breeding season if
possible or under ecological guidance.
Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMs) should be employed
regarding amphibians and reptiles.
Work should be undertaken in accordance with ‘BS5873:2012
Trees’ in relation to design, demolition and construction to
ensure that mature trees, hedgerows and tree belts in close
proximity are not harmed.

Education and Information

As part of any quality tender evaluation, the successful
Contractor will need to outline their strategy for community
engagement, (school visits/weekly site bulletins/social media
and comms plan).

Tackling Climate Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive
The impact produced by the implementation of the scheme is
beneficial (CO2 reduction) and quantified at £0.119 million.
Vulnerable to climate change?

Due Regard Statement

No

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?

No

No specific analysis has been carried out with regard to the
protected characteristics. However, this scheme is included in
the County Council’s adopted Local Transport Plan (2016)
which includes analysis of data in regard to user needs. The
detailed design of the final scheme will be undertaken in
accordance with relevant guidance in relation to equalities and
safety.
This

Page 66

Monitoring of Service Users
The Equality Act 2010 states that service providers have a
continuing duty to consider impacts on groups with protected
characteristics and therefore monitoring of users once the
scheme is operational will be required to ensure that equality
issues pertaining to age, disability, sex and ethnicity, are being
considered and evolved after opening. Additionally any
information on incidents/accidents or in the area around the
scheme will be analysed according to the characteristics of the
victim if the information is available.
Human rights Implications

N/A

Consultation
Arrangements

Public Share Events will be held in September. Presentation
boards will be provided with large scale plans and graphics
together with scheme introduction, background and FAQs.
Pre-consultation included engagement with key stakeholders
and interest parties included the Local member, Town and
Parish Councils, access and rights of way groups, scheme
users and emergency services.

Page 67

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Replacement and refresh of firefighting Personal Protective
Equipment

AGENDA NO: 8

Cabinet Date

10 October 2018

Public Protections,
Parking and
Libraries

Cllr Dave Norman

Key Decision

Yes

Background
Documents

•

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974

•

Fire Simulation and Cardiovascular Health in Firefighters

Location/Contact
for inspection of
Background
Documents

Main Consultees

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1974/37
Contact: Andy Hermiston, Acting Chief Fire Officer
Tel: 01452 888777
Email: dave.pike@glosfire.gov.uk
National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) national procurement group.
Kent Fire and Rescue Service Collaboration Group.

Planned Dates

Implementation over 2 financial years 2018/19-2019/20. The planned
contract commencement date is January 2019.

Divisional
Councillor

All

Officer

Andy Hermiston- Acting Chief Fire Officer
Tel: 01452 888777
andy.hermiston@glosfire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report

Recommendations

To seek approval to award a framework agreement (procured pursuant to a
competitive procurement process carried out by Kent Fire and Rescue
Service (FRS), to Bristol Uniform PLC for the supply of firefighting Personal
Protective Equipment (PPE), tunic and leggings on a purchase only basis,
using existing capital funding highlighted in 2018/19 and 2019/20 (£300k
2018/19 and £300k 2019/20)
That Cabinet authorises the Acting Chief Fire Officer, in consultation with
the Lead Cabinet Member and Kent Fire and Rescue Service, to enter into
a competitively procured two-year framework agreement with Bristol
Uniforms PLC (the sole supplier thereunder) for the supply of firefighting
Personal Protective Equipment.

Page 69

Reasons for
recommendations
Resource
Implications

The proposed award decision is recommended on the basis that it will be
consistent with national guidelines by the National Fire Chiefs Council and
will consolidate and standardise clothing solutions, aggregate supply and
demand on a national level, and leverage volumes to enable savings and
reduce third party spend across the sector.
£600,000 of existing capital funding budget will be used to purchase the
required PPE over the term of the proposed framework agreement (that is,
the next two financial years 2019/20 and 2020/21).

Page 70

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS
1.0

Background
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (the Service), on behalf of Gloucestershire
County Council (GCC) in its capacity as the Fire Authority, has a legal duty to ensure
that appropriate personal protective equipment is provided and maintained to ensure
fire-fighter safety.
At present EU and British laws puts a responsibility on any employer to provide
protective personal equipment (PPE) that must be fit for purpose. The usage and
maintenance of PPE such as washing and repair reduces the life of any garment and
the number of washes a garment can have before it is classed as not fit for purpose
will depend on manufacture and quality of the product. Helmets, gloves and boots
have a limited life-span and require replacing as per manufacture instructions at
predetermined intervals such as every 10 years for fire helmets.
As the present PPE provision comes to the end of its useful life, replacement needs
to be sourced and purchased to meet all the requirements of a fire fighters role.
GFRS currently employs over 320 operational fire fighters at different levels in the
organisation.

1.1

Investment and Best Value
This project is part of the county council capital investment program and supports
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service not only in meeting its statutory obligations
under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 but also the Management of Health
and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 in the provision of protective work wear. The
program will have a positive impact on the organisations Safer Firefighter Program
(SFP) and our community safety agenda. The county council has agreed capital
funding of £600k over two years to support this project. This investment in new
technologies will enhance firefighter safety and will result in firefighters in
Gloucestershire being equipped with the most up to date PPE making them safer,
more able to perform their role and present a professional image of the Service to the
communities of Gloucestershire. Extensive research has been carried out both
locally and nationally to ensure that the Service leverages value for money from the
project through efficiencies of scale and scope in the provision of this vital PPE for
the counties firefighters.

1.2

Collaboration
Fire and rescue authorities must at all times demonstrate delivery of efficiency and
value for money - they need to work together to share resources, knowledge and
best practice.

Page 71

The National Fire Chiefs Council have sought opportunities to consolidate and
standardise the clothing solutions, aggregating supply and demand on a national
level, and leveraging volumes to enable savings and reduce third party spend across
the sector.
The main drivers for this have been:


Lower overall costs through committed volumes to market



A more competitive market through smarter engagement and communication
of our intentions and plans



Improved quality and continuous improvement



Standardisation of kit/colour scheme



Drive greater competition from suppliers who have historically dominated the
market share in the supply of clothing to the Fire and Rescue sector.

This collaborative approach has resulted in the development of a Single Supplier
Framework from which, fire and rescue services (FRS), can “call-off”. This framework
provides FRS’ with an option to either lease PPE with a total care package, similar to
what GFRS had in place from 2010 to 2017, or a purchase only option, which would
need a separate arrangement for cleaning, servicing and maintenance.
The framework was awarded to a single supplier in June 2017. This followed a
rigorous tender process undertaken over a two-year period, which included technical
assessments, cost negotiations and practical user trials (with over 50 Fire fighters
taking part in extensive evaluations at the Fire Service College).
The Framework provides set costs with a discount applied for each 10,000
firefighters added to the Framework. As at 1 April 2018, the framework has reached
its maximum discount level for the purchase only option with prices viewed as very
competitive.
To date, 29 Fire and Rescue Services have signed up to access the agreement, with
15 now live, or about to go live with this offering, including the Scottish Fire and
Rescue Service, London Fire Brigade and Hereford and Worcestershire Fire and
Rescue Service.
1.2

Consultation
GFRS have been part of the Collaborative PPE Technical Group since inception.
More recently, the Service have engaged with other PPE suppliers to the UKFRS,
and counterparts in other Services. Our own staff have been involved in the trials for
the national framework.

Page 72

Extensive research has been completed into other areas in connection with the
provision of PPE including NFCC and the Centre for Applied Science and
Technology (CAST) in relation to smoke contamination.
Following consultation with staff and other fire and rescue services in relation to
provision, cleaning and repair of PPE, there is clear evidence that the current system
of providing one set of PPE to fire fighters and having reserve stocks on station does
not work well. The system is labour intensive to manage and fire fighters are at risk
of not taking the right size, if the one they require is not available. This puts the
Service at risk due to PPE not fitting as it was provided, which is not acceptable.
1.3

Key Considerations
New technologies in the way the clothing is constructed and the materials they are
made of are developing rapidly and as such for fire fighter health and safety to be
optimised the clothing needs to be renewed on a regular basis.
New technology also makes the clothing lighter and removes moisture away from the
skin reducing heat stress for fire fighters. Garments are made to allow movement
and enable fire fighters to perform a range of additional tasks e.g. road traffic
collisions (RTC’s).

1.4

Allocation
Assumptions have been made concerning the provision of new PPE, which has led
to an estimated demand for 820 sets of tunics and leggings with allocation set out
below:

1.5

Role

Item

Quantity

Station Manager and Above

Tunic and Leggings

X1

Fire Fighter- Watch Manager

Tunic and Leggings

X2

Severn Park Trainers

Tunic and Leggings

X4

Cost
A discount structure has been negotiated into the Framework that gives discounted
price points depending upon the numbers signed up to the agreement. In essence,
the more Services take up the offer, the cheaper the offering. Indicative costings
provided for Gloucestershire at this time are;
PBI Titan Structural Tunic and leggings

2.0

£560.00 per set

Options
It is viewed that there are two available options at this time:

Page 73

Total £459,200



Purchase from the Collaborative Framework with Bristol Uniforms



Maintain existing PPE provision and continue to explore the current market for
other supply options.

Whichever option is chosen, all PPE must be fully compliant with EN 469:2005 and
have been rigorously tested to conform to the industry standards.

2.1

The Framework Option
Purchase from the Collaborative Framework with Bristol Uniforms is the preferred
option for the following reasons:


It is a direct call off contract saving time and resources through tendering



It is priced competitively



It is legally compliant



It offers the latest innovations/technical specifications and high quality PPE
Plus:



The contractor has an excellent and proven track record of providing a high
quality managed service to FRS’s across the UK.

This is the simplest and easiest option. It uplifts current provision, based upon a
robust evaluation process providing up to date PPE proven in extensive trials and a
legally compliant tender process.
Advantages


The framework is a direct call off and will save time and resources in tendering
as the tender process is fully compliant with tendering rules and regulations.



The framework offers the latest high quality and innovations/technical spec
PPE.



Bristol Uniforms PLC has an excellent record of providing a high quality
managed service to FRS’s.



It would be a relatively simple process to move to the new structural fire kit
under the proposed Collaborative Framework Agreement.



The reporting structure under the proposed framework agreement will provide
additional information available to GFRS, to include an Equality and Diversity
Statement, Full Risk Assessment, Equipment Manuals, Standard Test
Procedures and a seat on the National Technical Group.



Clear collaboration on a national level showing saving through aggregated
spend.

Page 74

Disadvantages


2.2

If most UK FRS’s move to the framework agreement procured by Kent FRA,
this could by default create a monopoly position for Bristol Uniforms PLC.
However, there are other European suppliers that would come into the market
if there was an opportunity to win this business.

Explore the current market for other supply options.
Whilst an available option, exploration of the current market for other supply options
is not favoured as a lot of time and resource will be required to undertake this
exercise and it is highly unlikely there will be any benefit in doing so, plus the
potential costs could be significantly higher. This is basically due to the purchase
volume GFRS would require as a stand-alone buyer.
Advantages


Other Services operate outside of the Collaborative Framework. This could
provide opportunities for GFRS to join with other partners in the procurement
process, thereby demonstrating collaboration



The Framework has led to the unsuccessful suppliers losing a large part of
their market share. It can be assumed that the competition would be fierce if
GFRS went out to market, and we should therefore expect favourable rates
and conditions from suppliers keen to regain a foothold in the marketplace



Possibly get a better price and get the latest PPE innovation, although both
are highly unlikely.

Disadvantages
These benefits would however be outweighed by certain disadvantages.


Maintaining existing PPE provision is a short-term option only. It relies on
maintaining the current relationship with Bristol Uniforms, and the ability of the
company to deliver old technology subject to Service needs



Evaluation and procurement processes for alternative suppliers would need to
be OJEU compliant and require further assistance from relevant stakeholders
at GCC



Management time to conduct additional field trails and manage contractual
and legal aspects would be much greater



A resolute defence of “going it alone” and not engaging in the collaborative
arrangements led by Kent Fire and Rescue Service and the South East
Partnership would be required. Clear savings over above the collaborative
frame work would also need to be demonstrated.

Page 75

3.0

Risk Assessment
The drive nationally has been towards collaboration, both between Fire and Rescue
Services and wider blue light organisations. A decision to move away from an agreed
Collaborative Framework could be seen as a bold move and may be viewed with
criticism politically. This is particularly pertinent in the face of external scrutiny as
GFRS move towards an HMICFRS inspection.
The collaborative framework would offer “safety in numbers”. With many Services
across the Country taking up this option, the sourcing of materials and availability of
garments should be good. However, this does not come without risk; the monopoly
on provision of PPE by one provider stifles competition, innovation and limits choice
within the commercial environment, in addition to becoming a single point of failure.
There is a risk due to the number of Services taking up the collaborative framework
that Bristol Uniform may be unable to maintain their business model and could
become unstable as have Capita and Carillion in the recent past. As part of the
tendering process full financial checks have been completed and clauses have been
imbedded in the contract.
Ultimately, the most significant risk in not achieving successful procurement for
replacement fire-fighting PPE is a legal one. The Authority as ‘the employer’ has a
duty to maintain the health and safety of those that they employ and the provision of
suitable PPE underpins this duty.

4.0

Officer Advice

4.1

The preferred option has been reviewed by officers in Commercial and Legal
Services as well as GFRS.

5.0

Equalities considerations
A full equality impact assessment has been completed during development of the
national framework. All suppliers of PPE provide a fitted service for both males and
females and an extensive sizing profile for all body shapes and sizes takes account
of individual needs.

6.0

Consultation feedback
See Paragraph 1.2 above

7.0

Performance Management/Follow-up
Part of the ongoing performance management for the supply of PPE contract will be
a routine monthly review with a quality check at the end of the first year.

Page 76

Internal Local Performance Indicators (LPI’s), will be developed to track and monitor
progress with reporting by exception to both GFRS Senior Leadership Team (SLT)
and the Lead Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure.

Page 77

Report Title
Statutory Authority

Replacement and refresh of firefighting Personal Protective
Equipment (“PPE”)
Statutory duties and functions under:
 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974


Relevant County Council
policy
Resource Implications

Sustainability checklist:
Partnerships

Decision Making and
Involvement
Economy and Employment
Caring for people
Social Value

Built Environment
Natural Environment’
including Ecology
(Biodiversity)
Education and Information
Tackling Climate Change

Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.

N/A
£600,000 of existing capital funding budget will be used to
purchase the required PPE over the term of the proposed
framework agreement (that is, the next two financial years
2019/20 and 2020/21).

The National Framework project has been a great example of
joint working, demonstrating how Fire and Rescue Services
can work together to provide high quality protective clothing
and equipment for our firefighters and give the best value to
taxpayers.
The Framework has been created and endorsed by the NFCC
on the basis that it would deliver standardisation and
economies of scale to Fire and Rescue Services requiring
PPE.
Procurement of PPE through the national framework will
secure employment in this country and support the UK
economy.
Provision of suitable PPE demonstrates that both GCC and
GFRS view themselves as ‘caring’ employers.
This also enables firefighters to continue to support all those in
our communities including those considered to be the most
vulnerable during times of most need i.e. in emergency
situations.
Provision of suitable firefighting PPE enables GFRS staff to
help save and protect the built and natural environments both
within the county and further afield during large scale or wide
area emergencies.
N/A
Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change?

No

Due Regard Statement

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?
Section 5 of the report for more detail.

Human rights Implications

No

Consultation
Arrangements

Ongoing - GFRS Staff; Fire Brigade Union; Health and
Safety working groups; Kent Collaboration, GCC Finance,
Legal and Commercial Services.

Page 78

No - see

Agenda Item 9
CONSULTATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF A WASTE
TIPPING AWAY POLICY

Cabinet Date

10th October 2018

Environment and
Planning

Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision

Yes

Background
Documents

n/a

Location/Contact
for inspection of
Background
Documents

n/a

AGENDA NO: 9

Main Consultees

District, Borough and City Councils within Gloucestershire.

Planned Dates

Commence consultation late October 2018
Conclude consultation mid-December 2018
Adoption early 2019.

Divisional
Councillor
Officer
Purpose of Report

All
Wayne Lewis – Head of Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team,
wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk
To seek authority to consult on the terms of the proposed payment model to
be used in the development of a Waste Tipping Away Policy by the Council.
That Cabinet:
1. Authorises the Head of the Joint Waste Management to conduct a
consultation exercise with the District, Borough and City Councils within
Gloucestershire as to the:

Recommendations

(a) adoption of the NAWDO model as the financial mechanism for the
calculation of Tipping Away payments under s52(10) Environmental
Protection Act 1990 (EPA);
(b) operational issues and any other relevant considerations which
should be taken into account in the development of a Tipping Away
Policy.
Page 1

Page 79

2. Requires the Head of the Joint Waste Management to report back to
Cabinet with the results of and recommendations arising from the
consultation authorised under Recommendation 1.
Reasons for
recommendations

To facilitate the development of a Waste Tipping Away Policy.

Resource
Implications

The consultation exercise can be accommodated from within existing
budget and resources.

Page 2

Page 80

CONSULTATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF A WASTE TIPPING AWAY
POLICY
1.

Background
1.1 The transportation of waste collected by Waste Collection Authorities
(WCAs) to a point of disposal is a key component of the waste services
operated by the Council as a Waste Disposal Authority (WDA). Under the
EPA a WDA can direct a WCA to deliver waste collected by the WCA to a
point of disposal outside of its administrative area. In so doing, the WDA
becomes liable to make a reasonable financial payment to the WCA in
respect of costs it reasonably incurs in complying with that direction, where
the disposal point is unreasonably far from the administrative area of the
WCA; sometimes known as a “Tipping Away” payment.
1.2 A WCA may take responsibility for, and make its own arrangements for
disposal of collected waste, such as is the case for disposal of materials
for recycling. Further, liability to make a Tipping Away payment does not
apply to trade (commercial and industrial) waste collected by a WCA. In
the case of trade waste, the EPA makes a further provision that a Tipping
Away payment may be made at the discretion of the Council, but this is not
a statutory requirement.
1.3 In some areas of Gloucestershire, WCAs deliver waste to either a final
point of disposal within their areas of operation or to a local transfer station
where it is bulked and hauled to a final destination elsewhere. Where
transfer stations exist, these are the responsibility of the Council in terms
of both operation and funding.
1.4 Where no local disposal point or transfer station exists within a district,
WCAs are required to deliver waste directly to a location outside their area
of operation for treatment or disposal. Currently, this only occurs with
waste from the Stroud District area, where the tipping location is the landfill
site in Gloucester. In recognition of the costs incurred by Stroud District
Council in transporting waste outside of its area, the Council makes a
payment to Stroud in order to assist in covering these costs. The amount
of that payment has been agreed directly with Stroud District Council
under the EPA.
1.5 The existing arrangements with Stroud District Council are long standing,
and are based upon the agreed operating costs associated with this
additional haulage. However, the Council has no policy in place with which
3

Page 81

to formally calculate and apply Tipping Away payments where it is liable to
make them under the EPA. The EPA does allow the Council to agree such
payments with a WCA but in the absence of agreement or where there is a
dispute, the matter would be referred to arbitration. In many 2-tier Local
Authority areas, policies have been adopted which define both the
circumstances and how the amount of such payments are to be
determined. These policies clarify the level of payment, using a formula
which calculates a reasonable compensation to the WCA based upon the
additional travel time and associated operating costs. These policies only
apply when a WCA is directed by the WDA to tip waste outside its
operating area.
1.6 The adoption of such a policy within Gloucestershire would provide
transparency and an improved level of operational certainty to all parties in
the case where changes are made to waste delivery points and where a
waste transfer facility is not locally available.
2.

Defining a ‘Tipping Away’ Policy
2.1 Any Tipping Away Policy must reflect the requirements of the EPA in
providing a mechanism that can be used to calculate a reasonable
contribution towards expenditure reasonably incurred by the WCA in
delivering waste to a place which is unreasonably far from the WCAs area.
The EPA does not define what is reasonable or unreasonable in terms of
both the level of contribution and the distances involved. In response to
this, the National Association of Waste Disposal Officers (NAWDO) has
developed a formula which aims to provide consistency in the calculation
and application of Tipping Away payments. This formula is well
established and is used by some Local Authorities across England either
in its entirety or with amendments. Whilst this formula is not statutory, its
application would provide all parties with a clear basis for making and
receiving payments.
2.2 It should be noted that other formulae or payment models could be
designed and adopted at the discretion of the Council; but would also
need to be agreed with the District Council’s to avoid any disputes being
referred to arbitration under the EPA. However, the NAWDO model
represents a generally accepted approach to the payment of Tipping Away
contributions and the remainder of this report outlines a policy approach
predicated on the use of the NAWDO model.

4

Page 82

2.3 The NAWDO model sets out a formula that includes the following variables
in order to calculate a total annual Tipping Away payment:
 The number of journeys made in a year.
 The distance (D) travelled from the WCAs boundary to the disposal
point (doubled to account for a return journey).
 The mileage (d) outside the district boundary beyond which it is
considered unreasonable to travel (the model deducts this from the total
distance travelled). This therefore becomes disregarded mileage within
the calculation. When deciding upon this disregarded mileage
consideration should be given to local circumstances such as the type
of road and route used.
 The average speed of vehicles.
 The average hourly rate of vehicle operating costs (including, if agreed,
idle labour).
2.4 These variables are applied within the following formula:
Payment = No. of journeys x 2(D-d)
by vehicles

Ave. speed

x

Average hourly
operating costs

2.5 Most variables within this formula use actual data. The number of
journeys made, the average speed and the hourly operating costs can all
be determined from real operational data. Where different vehicle types
are used, the formula can be applied separately to each type and the
results added together to produce an annual budget figure. Thereby any
errors or disagreement arising from the use of an overall average
approach are eliminated.
2.6 Distance D (the distance from the district boundary to the disposal
location) can be determined using maps, mapping software or by driving
the route itself. For consistency, D should be determined prior to the use
of the formula in each case. By dividing D by the average speed the total
journey time will be derived. Multiplying this by the hourly operating cost
will produce the level of payment for that journey. Time spent on
depositing loads is excluded from this calculation, as this is not related to
the location of the disposal location.
2.7 Also of importance is the need to determine the distance (d) beyond which
it is deemed unreasonable to travel. This is an important factor as it will
have a significant bearing on the level of Tipping Away payment made.
The NAWDO model provides some guidance in stating that the total return
5

Page 83

time to drive the disregarded mileage should be between 0 and 30
minutes. At average speeds of 25, 30, 40 and 50mph this equates to a
maximum of 6.25 miles, 7.5 miles, 10 miles and 12.5 miles respectively
each way. Several authorities use a standard disregarded distance of 5
miles, and this may be one consideration for the Council to adopt. This
disregarded mileage can be deducted from the payment calculation. Local
conditions will influence how this variable is arrived at. Faster motorway
conditions may result in a higher disregarded mileage compared with a
journey undertaken on busy suburban routes. The application of a
disregarded mileage should also take account of other local
circumstances. In the case where a district is large and significant
distances are travelled within the district before the boundary is reached it
may be deemed unreasonable to apply a disregarded mileage to what
might already be a lengthy journey.
2.8 A Tipping Away Policy based on this model should be applied on a case
by case basis and should take into account local circumstances. Where a
WCA is directed to deliver waste to a location outside its operating area,
the model should be adapted according to local circumstance, defining a
disregarded mileage as appropriate and adjusting average vehicle speeds
depending upon the route used. Once the model has been established for
each case, the payment should continue unless and until the disposal
location is changed. The payment should be adjusted for annual inflation
in line with an agreed index.
2.9 Adoption of a Tipping Away Policy should be subject to consultation with
stakeholders, requiring between six and twelve weeks consultation prior to
formal adoption. Once adopted, the application of the Policy in each
circumstance should be subject to further discussion with the relevant
WCA in order to determine the level of each key variable, such as speed,
disregarded mileage and reasonable operating cost.
3.

Options
3.1 Do nothing.
3.1.1 The Council could choose to maintain the current position with no formally
adopted Policy as there is no statutory requirement to have such a Policy
in place as long as the requirements of the EPA are met in other ways.
Tipping Away payments can be made under the EPA by agreement but in
the absence of agreement or in the case of a dispute, the issue would be
referred to arbitration under the Act. This approach would not provide any
6

Page 84

clarity to either party when making operational or budget decisions
associated with waste service developments and could lead to differences
in approach, as each arbitration is determined.
3.2 Utilise the NAWDO model as the basis of developing a Waste Tipping
Away Policy.
3.2.1 This approach would provide a framework within which to plan future
service developments. It is a well used model which takes into account
the provisions of the EPA, and with adaptability to incorporate specific
local circumstances.
3.3 Develop and adopt an alternative payment methodology as the basis of
developing a Waste Tipping Away Policy.
3.3.1 This approach could be taken, as a specific policy model is not prescribed
in law. An alternative payment methodology to that produced by NAWDO
may be desirable if the Council wishes to consider making payments
based upon anything other than reasonable operating costs. It is not clear
at this time how such a payment methodology should differ in practice
from the NAWDO model, and further work would be required in order to
determine a suitable alternative on which to consult with the Districts.
4.

Officer Advice
4.1 That Cabinet agrees to conduct a consultation exercise with the District,
Borough and City Councils within Gloucestershire as to the adoption of
the NAWDO model as the financial mechanism for the calculation of
Tipping Away payment under s52(10) of the EPA.
4.2 As part of the consultation exercise, to consult with the District Borough
and City Councils within Gloucestershire on the application of disregarded
mileage and the approach to applying the policy in each individual
circumstance where a direction for delivery of waste outside a WCA area
is made.

5.

Equalities considerations
There are no equalities considerations associated with the recommendations.

6.

Consultation feedback

7

Page 85

Discussions regarding waste transfer have formed part of the Joint Waste
Committee agenda over recent years. A further structured consultation is
needed before any Tipping Away Policy can be formulated. The results of this
consultation will be reported back to Cabinet.

7.

Performance Management/Follow-up
The results of the consultation will be presented to Cabinet in early 2019, with
appropriate recommendations taking into account the outcome of that
consultation.

8

Page 86

Report Title

Consultation on the development of a Waste Tipping Away
Policy

Statutory Authority

Environmental Protection Act 1990; s48, s51 and s52

Relevant County Council
policy
Resource Implications

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 2007-2020
Waste Core Strategy
The conduct of the consultation exercise can be
accommodated from within existing budget and resources.

Sustainability checklist:
Partnerships

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Decision Making and
Involvement

District, Borough and City Councils within Gloucestershire

Economy and Employment

N/A

Caring for people

N/A

Social Value

N/A

Built Environment

N/A

Natural Environment’
including Ecology
(Biodiversity)

N/A

Education and Information

N/A

Tackling Climate Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change?

9

Page 87

No

Due Regard Statement

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?

No

The provisions do not apply to this matter
Human rights
Implications

N/A

Consultation
Arrangements

A minimum 6 week consultation with District, Borough and
City Councils within Gloucestershire to be undertaken if the
recommendations contained in this report are taken forward.
This will commence late October and run through to midDecember.
The consultation will consider the application of the NAWDO
model as the financial mechanism for calculating Tipping
Away payments in order to ensure, as a minimum, that
statutory duties are complied with. In addition, the
equitability of the policy, it’s flexibility to adapt to specific
variations in circumstance, and an agreement on
arrangements for reviewing the policy and its application will
be considered.

10

Page 88

Agenda Item 10

Proposed Parking Operational Services Contract

AGENDA NO: 10

Cabinet Date

29th October 2018

Public Protection,
Libraries and
Parking

Cllr Dave Norman

Key Decision

Yes

Background
Documents



Traffic Management Act (2004) and associated secondary legislation



Transport Act (2001) and secondary legislation



Statutory Guidance to the Traffic Management Act (2015)



Protection of Freedoms Act (2012)



Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 2015-2031

Location/Contact
for inspection of
Background
Documents

Cabinet Report, 2012:
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s6524/Agenda%20item%20
5%20PARKING%20AGENCY%20REVIEW.pdf
Traffic Management Act 2004:
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/18/contents
Local Transport Act 2001:
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/38/contents
Statutory Guidance to the Traffic Management Act 2015:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-enforcement-of-parkingcontraventions
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012:
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted
Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 2015-2031:
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transportplan-2015-2031/

Page 89

Main Consultees

District Councils, suppliers, internal stakeholders

Planned Dates

Tender issued – December 2018
Tenders returned from Market – February 2019
Tender awarded – April 2019
Mobilisation period commences – May 2019
New contract commences – April 2020

Divisional
Councillor
Officer

All
Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner, Communities and Infrastructure
Tel. no,01452 428482
Email address: philip.williams@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report
Approve the procurement of a new Parking Operational Services Contract
and delegate the award of this to the Lead Commissioner for Communities
and Infrastructure.
That the Cabinet authorises the Lead Commissioner for Communities and
Infrastructure.
1. To agree the preferred service option as proposed by officers.
2. to conduct a legally compliant competitive tender process for the
purpose of awarding a contract for the provision of parking enforcement
services across Gloucestershire. The proposed contract shall be
awarded to a single supplier and continue for an initial period of 5 years
and shall include an option to extend such period for 3 further years.
Recommendations

3. upon conclusion of such competitive tender process, to enter into a
contract with the preferred provider who is evaluated as offering the
Council best value for money for delivery of the required services. In the
event that the preferred provider for the contract is either unable or
unwilling to enter into that contract with the Council then the abovementioned officers are authorised to enter into such contract with the
next willing highest placed suitably qualified provider.
4. to liaise with the Lead Cabinet Member regarding the progress of this
procurement and keep him advised of any significant new risks that
emerge in the course of implementing the procurement process
described in this Report.

Reasons for

Section 2.4 of this Report outlines the benefits of the preferred option and
the basis for the officer decision

Page 90

recommendations
Resource
Implications

Internal resources will be used to procure and manage the ongoing contract
and there is existing revenue budget to cover the cost of the contract
therefore no new funding is required.
The estimated total value of the proposed contract, including the abovementioned 3 year extension, is a sum not exceeding £15.2 million (£1.9m
per annum).

Page 91

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS
1.0 Background
Parking restrictions are critical to the smooth operation of the highway network and
encourages better traffic flow. To ensure that the parking restrictions are adhered to there is a
requirement to enforce them. Without enforcement it is likely that many restrictions would be
ignored by motorists. Enforcement of the regulations takes place by utilising Civil Enforcement
Officers (CEOs) who issue Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) if any contraventions are
identified. Furthermore, the parking team manage the enforcement of bus lanes and other
areas of the road network that may have restrictions imposed on it.
It should be noted that there is a significant cost to enforcement. For every £1 received from
enforcement activity it actually costs the council £1.40. The authority does not make an
income from issuing PCNs.
If there was no enforcement of traffic and parking regulations there would be increased
congestion and reduced traffic flow that has a number of negative effects including increased
pollution, business disruptions and a considerable reduction in efficiency of the highway
network.
In 2013 Gloucestershire County Council (“GCC”) awarded a four year Parking Management
Services framework contract to single supplier following the completion of a competitive
procurement exercise. The framework permitted the “calling off” of services by GCC and the
six district councils in Gloucestershire. This provided the district councils with an option to
easily and independently appoint the successful supplier for their requirements if they wished
to do so.
The successful supplier appointed to the framework was APCOA, to whom GCC awarded a 4
year Parking Management Services contract, which was extended for 3 years in 2017, with
the arrangement expiring on 31st March 2020. In view of the forthcoming contract expiry, an
appraisal has taken place of available options going forward when the current contract
arrangement ceases.
Although the current contract doesn’t end until March 2020, we have identified that it is
important to allow a good amount of time for both the tendering process and for mobilisation.
This is covered in more detail in section 3.
2.0 Options
A number of different options for the provision of the service have been considered and these
are summarised below:
2.1 Cease Parking Activity Option
The Lack of any parking enforcement solution would be unacceptable – leading to serious
issues with the highways network, increased congestion and pollution, reduced economic
activity and breach of statutory obligations (the Traffic Management Act 2004).

Page 92

2.2 Completely In-Source Parking Enforcement Option
There are some benefits to the insourcing approach, such as increased control of the CEOs
and more direct line management. Employing CEOs directly could also have the potential to
reduce the amount of staff turnover that APCOA are currently experiencing. However, this is
not guaranteed and the low levels of unemployment in Gloucestershire that are aiding the
turnover of staff would still be prevalent, hence recruitment and retention will still be challenge
with an in-house model.
Despite the said benefits, we are minded that in 2013 the enforcement of parking regulations
was outsourced to the private sector. Prior to this CEOs worked for the district councils with
Gloucester City Council choosing to outsource their enforcement service and all others
providing an in-house service. As a result of the outsourcing considerable savings were made
by GCC in all of the Districts. The overall reduction in costs was around £500k per annum, or
1/3 of the cost of enforcement.
Recent cost estimates confirm that there are no financial advantages to in-sourcing the
function at this point in time.
The savings were made as a result of the private sector being able to share resources across
the country, and with other councils, so achieving economies of scale that the council would
be unable to achieve. Furthermore, the supplier is able to employ staff outside of the council’s
pay scales and employee benefits thus further reducing costs.
Accordingly, the benefits of pursuing the insourcing approach described above are offset by
projected cost increases costs (estimated to be 33% based on the 2013 data).
It is not a strategic objective for the parking team to manage the CEOs and there would be
considerable set up costs and ongoing administration costs if this option was favoured.
In view of the forecast 33% increase in cost and the high initial set up costs this option has
been discounted due to offering extremely poor financial value to the council.
2.2 Pay Another County Council or District Council to Manage Parking For GCC Option
This is the model that was in place until the service was outsourced in 2013. GCC outsourced
the on-street parking element of the required service to each of the district council’s in
Gloucestershire. The way in which the service was run at this time failed to generate any
surplus for the County Council to use to improve the service or for other highway
improvements
Based on previous experiences of this model the benefits in this arrangement are not certain
and would be cost ineffective for GCC, in view of this it has been discounted.
2.3 Collaborate with Some or All District Councils (and have a single shared contract
or framework across Gloucestershire) Option
GCC’s current contract with APCOA (awarded in 2013) was awarded as a framework, which
GCC, and subsequently the 6 district councils, called off services from. Consultation with the
Districts indicated that they had no interest in continuing with a similar arrangement, and in

Page 93

fact Gloucester City Council has already procured their own enforcement contract in an
entirely separate arrangement.
Discussions with the districts have confirmed that collaborative arrangements are not
practicable and not cost effective for GCC and the wider Districts at this point in time. In view
of this, the option described in this paragraph 2.3 has been discounted.
2.4 Procure a New Contract from the Market Option
Outsourcing the enforcement function will continue to deliver GCC the biggest financial benefit
and value for money. This is evidenced by the £500k saving when parking was outsourced in
2013. While it is acknowledged that the new enforcement contract is likely to cost more than
the current arrangement, it is forecast that the increase in costs will not be to such a scale that
an in house model would be more cost effective.
It is therefore recommended that GCC conducts an OJEU compliant competitive tender
process, to award a new contract for a period of 5 years, with provision for a 3 year extension.
The length of the contract reflects the investment required by contractors including ICT,
vehicle and equipment lease arrangements.
The estimated value of the contract is £1.9million per annum, with a total value of £15.2million
including available extensions.
Early engagement has occurred with Legal and Commercial services that are supporting the
procurement and development of the specification. The contract terms and conditions are
being developed utilising external legal advisors.
Soft market testing has taken place and this has identified a number of suppliers who would
be in a position to provide the service and are keen to bid for the contract. The supplier
engagement has helped with development the service specification.
This is the preferred option and the basis for the officer recommendation.
3. Risk Assessment
A Risk Register for this project has been developed and maintained by the Project Team. The
most significant risks are summarised below, together with actions being taken to mitigate risk:
Risk
New arrangements exceed current costs

Mitigation(s)
It is anticipated that the contract rate will
be higher than previous rates paid,
although this is hard to quantify.
Soft market testing has identified a
healthy market of suppliers.

Delay in the timetable disrupts front line
services and impacts on cost savings

Extra project management support
resourced and timetable strictly followed.

Page 94

TUPE risk

Staff that work for the current provider
are protected by TUPE. All costs and
liabilities should be made clear in the
tender documentation. A long
mobilisation period will be required by
suppliers to accommodate TUPE.

Procurement risk – risk of challenge from A compliant and robust procurement will
aggrieved suppliers
be undertaken with guidance from Legal
and Commercial Services.
Not finding a suitable supplier

A number of suppliers are in the market
place and pre tender discussions have
identified that a number of providers are
keen to bid for this contract.

Elements of service not included in the
contract

A clear specification will be developed
ensuring all off GCC’s enforcement
requirements are covered off in the
tender. Workshops will be help with the
team to ensure all elements of the
service are included in the tender. The
Highways Network Manager will sign off
the final draft invitation to tender to
ensure that all elements are covered off
in the ITT.

4. Officer Advice
That the Cabinet supports the recommended made in paragraph 2.4 of this report.
5. Equalities considerations
An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed in relation to this proposal. As the
recommendations involve continuation of existing enforcement functions, and no changes to
the Traffic Regulation Orders, no adverse impacts have been identified. Parking enforcement
does contribute positively to some of the protected groups, for example by improving the
turnover of disabled parking bays.
Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to satisfy
themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.
Consultation feedback
Consultation has taken place with prospective providers through soft market testing. This has
identified there is a healthy market of suppliers to bid for the contract.

Page 95

Performance Management/Follow-up
A number of key performance indicators have been developed in relation to the proposed new
contract.
These indicators are focussed on service delivery, value for money and good management of
the service. Failure to deliver the contract requirements will result in deductions from the rate
paid by GCC, or in extreme cases contract termination.
Regular monthly contract review will be required by the supplier and Parking Manager to
ensure that the contract is managed in accordance with GCC Contract Management
requirements.
The Lead Commissioner for Communities and Infrastructure will ensure that the Lead Cabinet
Member is kept updates with progress and notified of the outcome of the tender process.

Page 96

Report Title

Proposed Parking Operational Services Contract

Statutory Authority

Traffic Management Act 2004

Relevant County Council
policy

Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 2015-2031

Resource Implications

Internal resources will be used to procure and manage the
ongoing contract and there is existing revenue budget to cover
the cost of the contract therefore no new funding is required.
The estimated total value of the proposed contract, including
the above-mentioned 3 year extension, is a sum not
exceeding £15.2 million (£1.9m per annum).

Sustainability checklist:
Partnerships

A partnership approach with districts councils has been
investigated and discounted

Decision Making and
Involvement

Extensive consultation has taken place with Legal Services,
Commercial, Finance and Lead Commissioner

Economy and Employment

Policies in relation to parking take into account economic
activity and the impact on employment

Caring for people

Parking enables Blue Badge disabled users to have additional
parking opportunities to support independent living

Social Value

Parking enforces uses local people employed as CEO’s who
will be covered by TUPE

Built Environment

The contract requires the maintenance of parking sign and line
infrastructure

Natural Environment’
including Ecology
(Biodiversity)

Parking enforcement encourages better traffic flow so reducing
congestion and air pollution

Education and Information

Parking enforcement can be deployed around schools or
educational establishments to improve operation of the road
network in the local area.

Tackling Climate Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive
Vulnerable to climate change?

Due Regard Statement

No

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?

Yes

Yes - considerations included in main body of report

Page 97

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement can be accessed on
GLOSTEXT via
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail:
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.
Human rights Implications
Consultation
Arrangements

None
With potential enforcement suppliers

Page 98

Agenda Item 11
Award of a contract for the provision of actuarial
services to the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

AGENDA NO: 11

Cabinet Date

10th October 2018

Finance and
Change

Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Key Decision

Yes

Background
Documents

Report to the 7th September 2018 meeting of the Gloucestershire Pension
Committee

Location/Contact
for inspection of
Background
Documents

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees

Members of the Gloucestershire Pension Committee

Planned Dates

It is intended that the tender process will commence by the end of October
2018.

Divisional
Councillor

N/A

Officer

Jo Walker, Director of Finance and Enabling Services
Email: joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund
Mark.Spilsbury@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 328920

Purpose of Report

To seek approval for the procurement a seven year contract for the
provision of Actuarial Services to the Gloucestershire Pension Fund
(“the Fund”).
That Cabinet authorises the Director of Finance and Enabling Services to:
1. enter into an Access Agreement with Norfolk County Council to access
the National Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

Recommendations

Framework (“the Framework”) and pay Norfolk County Council an
access fee of £5,000;
2. conduct an EU compliant tender processing using the Framework for

the award of a seven year contract, having an initial term of four
years and an option to extend for a further three years, for the
provision of Actuarial Services to the Fund with a total estimated
value of £1.4m;

Page 99

3. upon conclusion of the tender process to enter into a contract with the
preferred provider evaluated as offering the Council best value for money
for the delivery of the services. In the event that the preferred provider is
either unable or unwilling to enter into a contract with the Council then the
Director of Finance and Enabling Services is authorised to award a
contract to the next willing highest placed suitably qualified provider for
delivery of the services.
Reasons for
recommendations
Resource
Implications

Detailed in paragraphs 1 and 2 in this report.
The full costs of this contract will be met by the Fund, with specific items
recharged to individual employing authorities as appropriate. There is no
direct financial implication for the Council.
As a guideline, the total cost of these services over the last four year period
(2014/15 to 2017/18) was in the order of £200,000 pa, of which around 50%
was directly recharged to employers within the Fund based on the actuarial
services provided to them.

1. BACKGROUND AND PROPOSAL

It is a statutory requirement for the Council as the Administrating Authority for the Fund
to obtain from an actuary a triennial valuation of the Fund’s assets and liabilities, a
report in respect of the valuation, and a rates and adjustments certificate.
The current contract with Hymans Robertson LLP to provide these and other actuarial
related services expires on the 31 March 2019.
It is proposed that the Council uses the Framework in order to procure a contract for
the provision of actuarial services to the Fund.
The benefits of using the Framework for this exercise are that it will save time and
money in comparison with the Council conducting its own separate OJEU procurement
process, without compromising the quality of the successful provider. There are four
nationally recognised suppliers of actuarial services to UK LGPS funds, each of which
has been appointed to the Framework. .
Those suppliers have already been through a full procurement process, run by Norfolk
County Council, to be appointed to the Framework which included an evaluation of
their financial and business standing, quality management and environmental
management.
There is a one off fee of £5,000 payable to Norfolk County Council to access the
Framework. The Council will run a mini competition under the Framework, inviting all
the four suppliers in the Framework Lot to submit tenders based on the Fund’s specific
requirements, addressing both quality and cost for the provision of the Services. The

Page 100

proposed contract will be for a term of seven years, comprising an initial term of four
years with an option to extend for a further three years. The proposed contract term will
ensure that the Services will not end on the same date as a triennial evaluation.
It is intended to commence the mini competition process by the end of October 2018.
2. OPTIONS CONSIDERED
The following options were considered:
1. Extend the current contract. This option was discounted because the current contract
contains no contractual right to extend and any purported extension would be in breach
of the framework terms under which the contract was originally procured.
2. Direct award a short term contract pending the conduct of a procurement process for
the award of a longer term contract. This was discounted because of the duplication of
time and resources needed to run two processes consecutively to achieve the proposed
outcome.
3. Undertake a full OJEU procurement process to award a new longer term contract. This
process was discounted because the four nationally recognised suppliers of actuarial
services to LGPS funds are all on the Framework, and any significant benefits in
running a full OJEU process could not be identified, particularly in the context of the
additional costs involved.
4. Undertake a competitive tender process using the Framework. This is the preferred
option as it is both time and resource efficient.
3. OFFICER ADVICE
The recommended option is Option 4, for the reasons set out in this Report.
4. RISK ASSESSMENT
The use of the recognised Framework ensures that a robust and transparent process is
followed thereby reducing risks to the Council in its capacity as the administering authority of
the Fund.
5. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
The contract will be managed in line with the Council’s contract management procedures and
in accordance with the provisions of the call-off contract to be used when procuring of the
Framework.
6. EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
There are no specific equalities considerations.

Page 101

Report Title

Award of a contract for the provision of actuarial services to the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

Statutory Authority

The Council is acting in its capacity as the Administering
Authority for the Fund.

Relevant County Council
policy
Resource Implications

The full costs of this contract will be met by the Fund, with
specific items recharged to individual employing authorities as
appropriate. There is no direct financial implication for the
Council.
As a guideline, the total cost of these services over the last
four year period (2014/15 to 2017/18) was in the order of
£200,000 pa, of which around 50% was directly recharged to
employers within the Fund based on the actuarial services
provided to them.

Sustainability checklist:
Partnerships

The Framework is run by Norfolk County Council and is

widely used by LGPS funds.
Decision Making and
Involvement

Agreement from the Gloucestershire Pension Committee for
the proposed procurement was obtained on 7 September 2018.

Economy and Employment

N/A

Caring for people

N/A

Social Value

N/A

Built Environment

N/A

Natural Environment’
including Ecology
(Biodiversity)

N/A

Education and Information

N/A

Tackling Climate Change

N/A

Page 102

Due Regard Statement
Human rights Implications
Consultation
Arrangements

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?

No

N/A
The Pension Committee agreed the proposed procurement at
its meeting on the 7 September 2018..

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Schedule of Proposed Disposals

AGENDA NO: 12

Cabinet Date

10th October 2018

Finance and
Change

Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Key Decision

Yes

Background
Documents

Cabinet decision on Schedule of Disposals January 2018

Location/Contact
for inspection of
Background
Documents

Through the above link to the County Council’s website

Main Consultees

Officers from across Gloucestershire County Council, partner organisations
where appropriate and GCC Property Board

Planned Dates

Ongoing

Divisional
Councillor

All

Officer

Jo Walker, Director of Strategic Finance and Enabling Services
Email: joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Neil Corbett, Head of Property Services
01452 328813
Email: neil.corbett@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report

To approve the Schedule of Disposals proposed to meet the three year
Meeting the Challenge 3 capital receipt target of £33m covering the period
2018/19 to 2020/21.
In line with the Policy for the Disposal of Property:
1. That Cabinet confirm that those sites described at Appendix A (Exempt)
which have previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in January
2018 and not yet disposed of, continue to be declared surplus to
requirements

Recommendations

2. That Cabinet declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of
Disposals Appendix B (Exempt) surplus to the Council’s land and
property requirements
and in relation to both these schedules delegates authority to the Head of
Property Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the Cabinet
Member for Finance and Change.

Page 105

Reasons for
recommendations
Resource
Implications

Through the approval of the Schedule of Disposals, and the declaration of
these sites as surplus to requirements, Officers will be well placed to
achieve best value for the Council in the disposal of these sites, thus
contributing towards capital receipt targets.
The disposal of these sites in accordance with the Policy will generate
capital receipts for the Council.
Asset Management and Property Services are working towards a capital
receipt target of £33m towards Meeting the Challenge 3 savings.

Page 106

1. Background
Asset Management and Property Services (AMPS) successfully completed a challenging
disposals programme by achieving £52.5m (against target of £60m) in capital receipts from
April 2015 to March 2018 as part of Meeting the Challenge 2 programme. Further sales
totalling £7.5m were agreed during final year of MTC2 but due to delayed sale completions the
£7.5m won’t be received until this financial year.
As part of Meeting the Challenge 3, AMPS are seeking to achieve £33m in capital receipts
over the next three year period, April 2018 to March 2021.
The programme has been developed across the organisation, led by AMPS in consultation
with the Property Board who challenges the use of property across the council, in order to
ensure the council’s property portfolio is being effectively used to meet the future needs of the
business. Property and land are recommended to Cabinet to be declared surplus prior to
disposal to contribute towards the Meeting the Challenge programme.
A schedule of properties and sites was declared surplus by Cabinet in January 2018 and it
was agreed that an update on these sales and any further sites which Property Board
recommend should be declared surplus would be submitted to Cabinet in late 2018. In line
with Policy for the Disposal of Property the approval given by Cabinet is valid for 6 months
therefore a new decision confirming approval to dispose must be given in order to progress
activity in achieving these capital receipts.
2. Schedule of Disposals
The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix A (Exempt) was approved by Cabinet in
January 2018. In accordance with the Policy for the Disposal of Property, AMPS are now
seeking confirmation of the decision to dispose of previously approved properties and sites
that have not yet been sold. The schedule has been updated to show completed sales and
sales agreed.
The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix B (Exempt) outlines new proposed disposals
for 2018 onwards. The properties and sites listed have been recommended as surplus by
service areas and AMPS to Property Board, and Officers from the Development and Disposals
team within AMPS have recommended the most appropriate disposal strategy to deliver best
value for the Council. Property Board have approved the recommended disposal strategies.
Officers will provide an updated schedule to Cabinet early 2019, delivering an update on sales
to date and any further sites which Property Board recommend should be declared surplus by
Cabinet.
Capital receipts received and sales agreed to date for 2018/19 currently totals £8,522,495 with
further sales still being negotiated. Approval of the appended Schedules of Disposals will
enable new properties to be programmed for disposal to help achieve capital receipt targets.
3. Options
Cabinet are asked to confirm that the properties and sites described at Appendix A (Exempt)
which have previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in January 2018 and not yet
disposed of, continue to be surplus to requirements.

Page 107

Cabinet are asked to declare all property and land sites on the Schedule of Disposals
Appendix B (Exempt) as surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements. Should
Cabinet choose to identify any specific sites which they do not wish to declare surplus at this
point, Officers will remove them from the Schedule and return them to Cabinet for decision at
a future date.
4. Risk Assessment
Should Cabinet elect to remove any specific site from the Schedule of Disposals, this could
cause a delay in the disposal process for these specific sites – which could have an overall
impact on the delivery of future capital receipts targets. The Council is best able to respond to
the market and opportunities if sites are already declared surplus to requirements by Cabinet –
enabling the achievement of best value. There is a significant risk that short delays in decision
making can lead to long delays in the disposal.
5. Officer Advice
Officers recommend that Cabinet declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of
Disposals surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements, and delegates authority to
the Head of Property Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the Cabinet
Member for Finance and Change.
6. Equalities considerations
In recommending sites as surplus to Council requirements, and in compiling the Schedule of
Disposals Officers across the Council have sought to pay due regard to the impact on
protected groups. Some sites on the Schedule are surplus to requirements due to changing
plans for office accommodation used by the Council, and where these buildings are currently
occupied by our employees, or those of our partners, the impact of the closure of the building
and the relocation of their place of work will be taken into consideration. Information on the
impact will be gathered through the collection of data concerning the individual members of
staff who will need to be relocated. Where required, due regard will be paid to the needs of
staff to ensure that any issues relating to the new workplace are considered (eg specific chair
requirements, disabled parking spaces etc) in order to mitigate any negative impact. Where
buildings have been providing a service those users have been catered for in other buildings.
7. Consultation feedback
Consultation has taken place with the Lead Cabinet Member, Property Board, service areas
and other organisations where appropriate in the development of this Schedule of Disposals.
As each site is disposed of, the Development and Disposals team will do so in accordance
with the Council’s ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’ which contains clear consultation
requirements.
8. Performance Management/Follow-up
In accordance with the ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’, Officers will provide an update to
Cabinet early 2019 on the progress against the Schedule of Disposals and developing plans
for future disposals. This will be monitored by the Property Board at regular meetings and by
the Senior Management Team in AMPS.

Page 108

Report Title

Schedule of Proposed Disposals

Statutory Authority

S.123 of the Local Government Act 1972

Relevant County Council
policy

Policy for the Disposal of Property (2012)

Resource Implications

The disposal of these sites in accordance with the Policy will
generate capital receipts for the Council.
Asset Management and Property Services are working towards
a capital receipt target of £33m towards Meeting the Challenge
3 savings.

Sustainability checklist:
Partnerships
Decision Making and
Involvement
Economy and Employment
Caring for people
Built Environment
Natural Environment’
including Ecology
(Biodiversity)

Partnerships such as One Gloucestershire will be consulted
with in accordance with the ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’
2012
Where appropriate there will be local consultation on the
disposal of sites
The disposal of sites may enable the development of
employment opportunities through the potential future use of
some sites
There may be some disposals which arise from changing
practices in delivering care; these are managed by the service
area who will also manage any impact
There may be some sites which are appropriate for
development, which will follow all associated planning rules
and processes, including consultation
N/A

Education and Information

N/A

Tackling Climate Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change?

Due Regard Statement
Human rights Implications
Consultation Arrangements

No

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?
Considerations included in main body of report
N/A
Ongoing in relation to each disposal

Page 109

No

This page is intentionally left blank

